A scoping review of the potential relationship between adverse childhood experiences and chronic pain in adulthood.

Kelly Hamilton ID:21147715

A dissertation submitted to Auckland University of Technology in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Bachelor of Health Science, majoring in Psychology (Honours).

Faculty of Health and Environmental Sciences Auckland University of Technology November 11, 2022

In submitting this work, I declare that:

This assessment has been produced by me and represents my own work.

Any work of another person is appropriately acknowledged and/or referenced.

This work did not involve any unauthorised collaboration.

This work has not previously been submitted by me or any other person/author, unless authorised.

I did not use any other unfair means to complete this work.

I understand that the above obligations form a part of the University's regulations and that breaching them may result in disciplinary action.

Signed:

Date: 11/11/2022

Acknowledgements

I would like to sincerely thank my two supervisors, Elizabeth du Preez and Kirsten van Kessel, for the guidance they provided throughout this process, and for providing me the opportunity to apply myself to an area I care deeply about.

A second special mention to my husband and family. Thank you for providing patience and an ear to listen.

CONTENTS

Abstract	6
Chapter One: Introduction	7
1.1 Adverse Childhood Experiences and Allostatic Load	7
1.1.1. Adverse Childhood Experience Study (ACE-S)	7
1.1.2. Critique of ACE-S	8
1.1.3. New Zealand prevalence data	9
1.1.4. ACEs and Health Outcomes	9
1.1.5 ACEs and Health Care Utilisation	10
1.2 Pain and Chronic Pain	11
1.2.1 Prevalence	12
1.3. Relationship Between Adverse Childhood Experiences and Chronic Pain	12
1.4. Objective	14
Chapter Two: Method Design	15
2.1. Framework	15
2.2 Eligibility Criteria	16
2.3 Information Sources	17
2.4 Search terms	17
2.5. Study Selection	17
2.6. Data charting and Thematic Analysis	17
2.7 Quality and Rigour	19
2.7.1 Reliability	19
2.7.2 Validity	20
2.8 Risk of Bias	20
2.8.1 Critical Appraisal	20
2.8.2 Reflexivity	21
Chapter Three: Results	23

3.1 Selection of Sources	23
3.2 Characteristics of Sources	23
3.2.1 Measurement tools	24
3.2.2 Relationship between ACE and Chronic Pain	25
3.3 Themes Generated from the Thematic Analysis	30
3.3.1 There is a Potential Relationship Between ACEs and Chronic Pain in Adulthood	32
3.3.2 The ACE and Chronic Pain Relationship is Complex	33
3.3.3 There is More That Needs to Be Done	34
3.5 Synthesis of Results	36
Chapter Four: Discussion	37
4.1 Overview of the results	37
4.1.1 There Is a Potential Relationship Between ACEs and Chronic Pain in Adulthood	37
4.1.2 The Relationship Between ACEs and Chronic Pain in Adulthood is Complex	38
4.1.3 There is More That Needs to be Done.	
4.1.4 Summary	41
4.1.5 Clinical Implications	41
4.2 Limitations of the Scoping Review	42
4.3 Future Research Recommendations	43
4.4 Conclusion	43
References	45

Abstract:

In previous years, adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) have been identified as having a potential relationship with poor health outcomes. Chronic pain is one health outcome that has a high prevalence worldwide and the numbers are continuing to grow. Thus, the aim of this scoping review was to review what the current research posited about the potential relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood. Using a combination of PRISMA-ScR and Arksey and O'Malley's (2005) scoping review frameworks, five databases were searched. Overall, 66 articles were included and further analysed by using a thematic analysis. From this thematic analysis, three themes were identified: there is a potential relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood; the relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in complex; and there is more that needs to be done to understand the relationship between adverse childhood experiences and adult chronic pain. Depression, anxiety and resilience emerged as mediating factors in the relationship between ACEs and chronic pain but do require further clarification. This scoping review did not identify any relevant studies within a New Zealand/Aotearoa context and recommendations include validating the ACE questionnaire for the New Zealand/Aotearoa population and identifying whether the ACE domains are relevant, and culturally sensitive and appropriate. This scoping review contributes to the understanding of the relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood in order to develop treatment options which might in turn contribute to reduction in negative health outcomes and an increase in healthcare utilization

Chapter One: Introduction

This chapter will provide a brief overview of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs), the relationship between ACEs and future health outcomes, and the economic cost of ACEs around the world. This will be followed by an overview of chronic pain and finally a brief discussion of the relationship between ACEs and chronic pain.

1.1 Adverse Childhood Experiences and Allostatic Load

Adverse childhood experiences can be defined as events that cause trauma to a child or adolescent (first 18 years of life), often resulting in negative long-term impacts (Boullier & Blair, 2018). Felitti and colleagues (1998) noticed a growing awareness within the medical research field of the association between ACEs and debilitating health outcomes. Allostatic load is a concept which is used to understand the impact of chronic adversity on health behaviours and illnesses. The human body has evolved to work as a smooth-running machine, where certain parts of the brain (for example the amygdala) are stimulated in response to environmental or psychosocial stressors, usually to aid survival. This is called allostasis (Danese & McEwen, 2012). In an ideal situation, the brain will recognise that the environment has become safe again and will return to equilibrium. However, in the case where the environmental or psychosocial stressors are continuous and do not allow the body to return to a relaxed state, the body will be at risk of an allostatic load. Danese & McEwen (2012) draw upon previous research to describe allostatic load as the chronic activation of the nervous, endocrine (hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis), and immune systems. With the combination of environmental stress overload which overwhelms the brain's ability to adapt to these environmental stressors (neural plasticity), physiological changes can occur. This can result in hypersensitivity to similar or the same environmental stimuli and further, increased pain (Kendall-Tackett, Marshall, & Ness, 2003).

1.1.1. Adverse Childhood Experience Study (ACE-S)

The scale and tool to screen for ACEs is the Adverse Childhood Experiences Questionnaire (ACE-Q) which was created to assess the potential of allostatic load due to environmental or psychosocial stressors in the Adverse Childhood Experiences Study (ACE-S; Felitti et al., 1998). The ACE-S took place within the Kaiser Permanente's San Diego Health Appraisal Clinic (United States of America), with 9,508 participants taking part in the survey (Felitti et al., 1998). The study developed seven domains of adverse experiences and based the ACE-Q off items from the Conflicts Tactics Scale (Straus et al., 1990), Wyatts Sexual History Questionnaire (Wyatt, 1985) and the National Health Interview Survey (Schoenborn, 1988). The domains are physical, emotional and sexual abuse, and household dysfunction which has the sub-domains, substance abuse, mental illness or criminal behaviour within the household, or a mother figure treated violently. Since the original ACE-S study, research and knowledge has developed around ACEs, therefore other domains of divorce or separation, and physical and emotional neglect have been added (Finkelhor et al., 2015).

The study found that the most common ACE was exposure to substance abuse within the household, and the least common was criminal behaviour within the household. This relates back to allostatic load, in that substance abuse is rarely an isolated event, but continuously occurring. Out of the respondents, 52% had experienced more than one ACE and only 6.2% had experienced more than four ACEs. Further the ACE-S found sufficient evidence of a graded relationship between the number of ACEs experienced by a respondent, and health outcomes later in life. It is assumed that the accumulation of ACEs means that they are occurring frequently, rather than one isolated event, again indicating a risk for allostatic load.

1.1.2. Critique of ACE-S

One of the studies that looked at the need for more domains in the screening for ACEs was conducted by Finkelhor et al., (2013), who critiqued the ACE-S for omitting childhood adversities that are known to predict health outcomes. The article interviewed 2030 children in the United States of America, between the ages of 10 and 17 (Finkelhor et al., 2013). After the interviews, the authors were able to discern which of the original domains were not significant and which of the added domains were significant. From this, Finkelhor and colleagues (2013) created a revised scale with an added nine domains and revoking four domains. In a subsequent study the authors used the additional domains of peer victimisation, isolation and peer rejection, community violence, and low socioeconomic status (Finkelhor et al., 2015). It was confirmed that these new domains could predict health outcomes later in life and thus could be classified as ACEs (Finkelhor et al., 2015). These studies highlight the importance to review and update scales and tools in response to new literature and changes in context.

Boullier & Blair (2018) also criticised the ACE-S, as the respondents of the original study were white and college educated, thus the results might not be generalised to other ethnicities and subpopulations. One study, carried out by Cronholm et al. (2015), held focus groups for those living in Philadelphia residences, where at least 20% of the residents lived under or at the federal poverty line (United States of America). Participants were from homeless youth shelters, after-school and mentoring programmes, health clinics, and community development corporations. The ethnicities included white (38.8%), black (36.1%), Latino (11.4%), Asian (6.2%) and other (7.4%). During these focus groups, participants were asked to describe their top five childhood stressors. The second most common domain the respondents discussed was the effect of community stressors. This included neighbourhood crime, death, violence, negative adult behaviour, and nonviolent crime. Yet community stressors are not a domain for the original ACE-Q. The other identified domains were economic hardship, peer relationships, discrimination, within school environments, health, and less commonly child welfare/juvenile justice and media/technology. The ACE-Q had already covered family relationships and personal victimisation which were also in the top three stressors for this study (Cronholm et al., 2015). This study highlights that majority of the literature is based internationally and biased towards the educated white American. Within New Zealand, there is one current study assessing the prevalence of ACEs in a community population (Walsh et al., 2019).

1.1.3. New Zealand prevalence data

The Growing Up in New Zealand (GUINZ) study (2019) assessed the prevalence of ACEs in a community population. The participants were assessed at four and a half years of age (n = 5562) by looking at the ACEs of substance abuse in the home, violence towards mother figure, parental depression, criminal conviction of parent, parental divorce, or physical or emotional abuse (sexual abuse was left out of the GUINZ data collection; Walsh et al., 2019). Consistent with the Felitti et al. (1998) study, by the four-and-a-half-year data collection, more than half of the participants had experienced at least one ACE, which mainly consisted of either physical or emotional abuse. The GUINZ is considered to be generalisable to the New Zealand/Aotearoa population, with representative samples from both urban and rural living areas, different income levels, ethnicity and genders (Morton et al., 2012), though it was recommended for further testing of subgroups within New Zealand/Aotearoa populations (Walsh et al., 2019).

1.1.4. ACEs and Health Outcomes

In addition to research focused on defining ACEs and establishing prevalence, there is also research exploring the potential relationship between ACEs and health outcomes. Health outcomes refer to negative chronic health conditions, such as chronic pain; behaviours causing risk to health, such as smoking; disruptions in development, such as homelessness; and lastly an increase in accessing primary health care (Kalmakis & Chandler, 2015). The findings of studies in the area are at times contradictory, this may be explained by researchers using different measurements or tools for

ACEs. Kendall-Tackett et al. (2003) claimed that experiencing a traumatic event in childhood does not increase the risk of chronic pain symptoms. In their study, they found that there was no significant difference in health outcomes between those who experienced trauma in childhood compared to those who experienced it in adulthood. The findings are underpinned by the notion that the child's brain is still extremely malleable, and it is therefore plausible that the meaning of the experience can change or even be forgotten (Kendall-Tackett et al., 2003). However, Danese & McEwen (2012) stated that during childhood, the chronic activation of the nervous, endocrine (hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis), and immune systems can prove to be more detrimental as the stressors can have longer lasting effects due to the sensitivity of the developmental stage.

Kalmakis and Chandler (2015) systematically reviewed 41 studies to assess the association between ACEs and health outcomes, such as physical, psychiatric, health risk behaviours, developmental disruption, and healthcare utilisation. All studies that were reviewed showed significant associations. However, only one of these articles included chronic medical conditions (Greenfield & Marks, 2009). Kalmakis & Chandler confirm, with their review, that the more ACEs a child is exposed to, the greater the impact is on their health. Although the reviewed studies did not indicate if some ACE domains were more severe in their impact than others, certain domains may have more of an association with certain health outcomes. A few of the studies also indicated that the timing of the ACEs was important and would lead to different consequences if they occurred at different developmental stages, for example early childhood versus adolescence (Kalmakis & Chandler, 2015).

The argument of whether ACEs affect health outcomes based on the specific domain or the cumulative impact is still contested today (Giano et al., 2020; Negriff, 2020). This current project aims to systematically review evidence that ACEs have a potential relationship with health outcomes later in life.

1.1.5 ACEs and Health Care Utilisation

With an increase in negative health outcomes, it can be expected that an increase in the use of health care services such as outpatient care, hospitalization and surgeries would occur. A longitudinal study carried out in Australia (n = 608,540) found that children who had been involved with Child Protection Services, specifically those who had experienced out-of-home care, had the highest number of hospitalisations for every age (Gnanamanickama et al., 2020). Gnanamanickama and colleagues (2020) also noted that mental health, injury, and negative drug use were common causes for these hospitalisations. Not only does ACEs influence an increase in hospital visits but can impact the rate of success in surgeries. One previous study found that those who had experienced

more than three types of abuse (e.g., emotional, sexual, physical, parental substance abuse and abandonment) had an increased failure rate in lumbar surgery, compared to those who had experienced less than three traumas (Schofferman et al., 1992). Every year the physical health care system places pressure on the economy (Barlow, Durand & Hofmann, 2020), from hospitalisations for injuries, or illness compensation packages. In one systematic review, Bellis et al. (2019) found that within North America and Europe, over \$1 trillion (US\$748 billion and US\$581 billion respectively) is being spent on health care that can be linked back to ACEs. These studies highlight the long-term economic impact the potential ACEs and health outcomes relationship can have.

1.2 Pain and Chronic Pain

One of the most common health outcomes that is impacting the health care system and thus the economy, is chronic pain (Wilson et al., 2015; Duenas et al., 2016; Ministry of Health, 2021). There are three types of chronic pain under the International Association of the Study of Pain (IASP). Nociplastic, which does not occur from disease or injury and shows no evidence of tissue damage, for example fibromyalgia, irritable bowel syndrome or regional somatic pain. Nociplastic pain involves having an increase in sensory processes and decreased inhibitory pathways (Cohen, Vase & Hooten, 2021). Secondly, neuropathic pain, occurs from disease or injuries impacting the nervous systems, for example spinal cord injury, diabetes, Parkinson's disease, multiple sclerosis, or infections. Lastly, nociceptive pain, which is from tissue damage or the potential of tissue damage, for example bone fractures, cancer, osteoarthritis, postoperative pain or angina (Cohen, Vase & Hooten, 2021).

The experience of pain signals is beneficial to individuals as it offers feedback to the body that there has been a failure of protection from injury and changes are required to make the situation tolerable (Apkarian, 2019). Apkarian (2019) uses this behavioural perspective to define the experience of pain as one of the outcomes of a continuous and conscious evaluation of the environment. He adds that the nociceptive pain process (as opposed to the neuropathic pain process) is an ongoing assessment of pain signals as a result of injury and aids in the control of behaviour to protect the human body from adverse environments (Apkarian, 2019).

The experience of pain is considered chronic when it is incessant, present for more than three months (Treede et al., 2015), when treatments no longer reduce the pain, and it results in pain behaviours, such as changing body posture or avoiding activities (Barlow, Durand & Hofmann, 2020). It is also considered chronic when it no longer benefits the feedback process (Cohen, Vase & Hooten, 2021; Apkarian, 2019).

1.2.1 Prevalence

Chronic pain has a higher prevalence in women, older individuals, those from lower socioeconomic backgrounds (Mills et al., 2019), military veterans and those living in rural areas (Cohen, Vase & Hooten, 2021). Research gives mixed answers to which ethnicities have the highest prevalence, with some stating that non-Hispanic white people have higher prevalence (Dahlhamer et al., 2016), and others stating indigenous and ethnic minorities having higher prevalence (Cohen, Vase & Hooten, 2021). The prevalence of chronic pain in New Zealand/Aotearoa has steadily increased from 2011 (Ministry of Health, 2021). In the most recent national health survey (2020/21), the Ministry of Health reported that 19.7% of adult service users had experienced some form of chronic pain. Within this group, the 75+ age bracket had the highest percentage of those who experienced chronic pain (31.6%), and females experienced chronic pain more than males in every age group. Māori and European/Other ethnicities had the highest percentages, with only 1.9% difference between them (23.2% and 21.3% respectively). Again, females had higher percentages within each ethnicity group, except Pasifika males (19.8%) who experienced more chronic pain than Pasifika females (17.1%). The final important subgroup showed those living in more deprived areas experienced chronic pain to a greater extent (23.9%), again with females being the highest percentage within each of the five quintiles (Ministry of Health, 2021). Higher prevalence rates in certain groups may be related to differences in cultural understanding of chronic pain and sensitivity to pain, and further reduced access to quality health care (Cohen, Vase & Hooten, 2021).

1.3. Relationship Between Adverse Childhood Experiences and Chronic Pain

Research focused on the potential relationship between ACEs and adulthood chronic pain has found mixed results with some studies providing support for such a relationship while others reported the opposite.

The studies that support a relationship between ACE and chronic pain include Nelson et al. (2017), which indicate that children who have experienced ACEs are 21% more likely to go through a chronic medical illness, such as chronic pain. A second finding (in the 2017 study) indicated that children who experience chronic pain are more likely to report a higher number of ACEs (Nelson et al., 2017), which further adds evidence to the development of allostatic load. Nelson et al. (2019) also found that approximately 59% of the cohort (n=305) had experienced at least one ACE and of this population 21% had experienced more than two ACEs (Nelson et al., 2019). However, this was lower than a previous study which reported 80% of children had experienced more than one ACE (Nelson et al., 2018). A more recent study on a national (United States of America) sample of

children (n=48,567) had parents reporting 49.8% of the children had experienced at least one ACE, and 8.2% of the children had experienced chronic pain (Groenewald, Murray & Palermo, 2020). When the ACEs and chronic pain data was combined, the children who had experienced at least one ACE had a chronic pain prevalence of 8.7%. Further, those who were reported to have experienced more than four ACEs had a chronic pain prevalence of 18.4%. (Groenewald et al., 2020). This study provides evidence for the graded relationship Felitti et al. (1998) posited. These four studies (Nelson et al., 2017; Nelson et al., 2018; Nelson et al., 2019; and Groenewald et al., 2020) indicate the high prevalence of ACEs within children experiencing chronic pain. As the articles do not assess chronic pain in adults, it is possible to hypothesise that the relationship between ACE and chronic pain might also be applicable to adults experiencing chronic pain. This scoping review would review the evidence for this.

A narrative review by Mills et al. (2019) examined the epidemiology and associated factors in relation to chronic pain in adulthood. The authors found evidence that experiencing ACEs increased the risk of experiencing chronic pain in adulthood. Additionally, Mills and colleagues (2019) briefly mentioned regardless of age, if an individual experienced violence or abuse (public or domestic), they were more likely to experience chronic pain. This again highlights the potential of allostatic load in the aetiology of chronic pain. However, this review was not focused on the specific relationship between ACEs and adulthood chronic pain, therefore only a fraction of studies provided evidence to this theory.

Other studies did not find evidence for a relationship between ACE and chronic pain. For example, Raphael et al. (2001) used prospective reports of childhood victimisation and followed the children into young adulthood, to then assess pain levels. Prospective reports of ACEs, refers to identifying participants levels of ACEs through documented reports, either through court records (Raphael et al., 2001), CPS records (Jones et al., 2009) or interviews with children (van Tilburg et al., 2010). Often these studies are longitudinal, which are considered the ideal method to assess this relationship as it can provide a valid causal relationship, whereas retrospective methods are susceptible to recall bias (Raphael et al., 2001). Raphael and colleagues (2001) did not find a significant relationship between prospective reports of childhood abuse or neglect and pain in young adulthood. As Raphael and colleague's (2001) study was written over 20 years ago, a scoping review may uncover further evidence of prospective studies showing (or not showing) a relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood.

In summary, literature has shown the potential for a relationship between chronic pain and ACEs. However, gaps emerged, for example a lack of longitudinal prospective studies which would add to the evidence for a causal relationship; the emergence of studies discussing chronic pain in childhood, with relation to ACEs, may lead to less research in adults with chronic pain; and there is currently no known review that focused on ACEs and chronic pain in adults specifically.

1.4. Objective

The objective of this proposed scoping literature review is to identify and summarise the recent literature on a potential relationship between ACEs and the experience of chronic pain in adulthood. Further, any gaps that may exist in this area of study will be identified. Based upon the preliminary review of the literature, it is recognised chronic pain is increasing throughout New Zealand/Aotearoa communities and there is growing recognition of the impact ACEs have on physical health outcomes. Therefore, it is hoped that this review will provide an appraisal and synthesis of the research in this area in order to highlight the current knowledge base, alongside areas for further research in understanding the relationship between ACEs and chronic pain.

Chapter Two: Method Design

A scoping review was chosen to draw upon previous research in a critical manner, thus providing an overview of the volume of current knowledge around the research question and any areas that require more research. A scoping review allows the question to remain broad, for more specific questions to arise from the findings (Munn et al., 2018). Another strength of a scoping review is that it includes expansive study designs rather than only using empirical research. This broadens the range of literature produced, therefore highlighting different types of methods used in the field (Munn et al., 2018). Lastly, scoping reviews are not used to critique the available literature, thus providing an unbiased summary (Pham et al. 2014). From this scoping review, conclusions can be made about key concepts, which may influence more research to take place (Arksey & O'Malley, 2007).

2.1. Framework

This scoping review has been written in accordance with the five-stage methodological framework for scoping reviews outlined by Arksey and O'Malley (2005) and the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analysis extension for scoping reviews (PRISMA-ScR) statement (Tricco et al., 2018).

The PRISMA-ScR statement was used to report the findings of this review. This allowed for consistency with other scoping reviews and to create structure for reporting the methods, results, and discussion, thus adding to the quality and transparency of how the scoping review was conducted and reported (Tricco et al., 2018). The checklist was also beneficial for time management.

The method used for this scoping review was based on the framework developed by Arksey & O'Malley (2007) which included the following five steps:

- 1. Identifying the research question was an important step as it guided the search of the studies, specifically, identifying the key words that were used for the search. The question also gave context to the key words, so that in the next step the search was narrowed to the most relevant studies. Further, an important sub-step of identifying the research question was defining the key words. Again, this allowed the search to be further narrowed. As the point of this scoping review was to summarise current literature and identify existing gaps, it was important the definitions were broad to find the gaps but still specific to use relevant literature when answering the question (Arksey &O'Malley, 2007).
- 2. Identifying relevant studies entailed distinguishing which databases were used and the limits which were added to the search. This involved an initial search to gauge whether the database

will produce enough studies for the real search. The date and the language of the literature were the main limits added to the searches, as they set the basis of literature coverage.

- 3. To select the most relevant studies, Arksey & O'Malley (2007) discuss the importance of defining the key words before the search, that way irrelevant studies are efficiently screened out. As mentioned, this was done in the first step. Further, the authors discuss their use of inclusion and exclusion criteria and how they developed this criterion after becoming familiar with the literature. These criteria were developed with clinical thresholds and the ACE-S in mind and discussed further in chapter 2.2 and 2.3.
- Data was then charted, specifically important methods, results, and conclusions. Important methods were added as the Arksey & O'Malley (2007) reasoned that it gave the results context. This step also helped in familiarisation of the articles.
- 5. Collating, summarising and reporting the results was the final step in the framework. This is a critical step, as there are often many studies to present in a clear format. Arksey & O'Malley (2007) state that they found the best way to present the studies was in tables and charts, which allowed for gaps in the literature to be shown. The PRISMA-ScR was used in combination with this method, by using the checklist to guide which specific points needed to be discussed (Tricco et al., 2018). Clarke and Braun's (2012) framework for a thematic analysis was used to help summarise the findings, by identifying common themes within the reviewed articles.

2.2 Eligibility Criteria

Eligibility criteria was created using the Participants, Interventions, Comparisons, Outcomes and Study Design (PICOS) framework of the Joanna Briggs Institute (Aromataris & Munn, 2017). In defining the inclusion and exclusion criteria, the following parameters were set:

The eligibility criteria included only articles that are peer reviewed, published from 2012 to 2022, open access, and written in English. This is to ensure that the most current and accurate literature is used and limits the articles due to the timeframe this review had to be finished within. For the purpose of the search, chronic pain was defined as any pain condition that lasted longer than three months. The majority of studies often explicitly stated the pain was chronic. ACEs were based off the domains currently listed and defined on the Center for Disease Control website (National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Division of Violence Prevention, 2021). As mentioned by Arksey & O'Malley (2007), the criterion was developed post hoc as more knowledge was gained around the subject, and familiarity was developed with the articles being produced. For example, articles that discussed childhood trauma or maltreatment and used measurement tools other than the ACE-Q,

such as the childhood trauma questionnaire (CTQ; Bernstein & Fink, 1998), were included if the study's criterion was the same or similar to the ACEs criteria

2.3 Information Sources

To identify relevant studies, a systematic search was done, using CINHAL, Medline, Ovid Emcare, PsychInfo, and Scopus databases. The databases had to be available to access with an Auckland University of Technology (AUT) login. The information sources were from databases that covered the eligibility criteria. The most recent search was carried out on July 28th, 2022.

2.4 Search terms

An advanced search used the keywords:

- "Chronic pain" or "fibromyalgia" or "widespread pain" or "irritable bowel syndrome" or "IBS" or "CWP" or "neuropathic pain" or "nociceptive pain" or "nociplastic pain" AND
- "Adverse childhood experiences" or "child maltreatment" or "child* trauma*" or "childhood sexual abuse" or "ACE" or "childhood physical abuse" or "household dysfunction"

2.5. Study Selection

A shortlist was made by screening the titles and abstracts. The criteria required the articles to indicate the research was exploring the relationship, by using chronic pain and ACEs measures. The second and third requirements were the chronic pain had to be experienced in adulthood, and the adverse experience had occurred in childhood. From here, the articles were downloaded to EndNote for ease of access. A full text screen was then conducted for each article to cross-check against the exclusion criteria and ensure the most appropriate articles were included.

2.6. Data charting and Thematic Analysis

Once the studies were selected, they were entered onto an Excel spreadsheet. The general information included on the spreadsheet was the author(s), year of publication, location of study, relevant results, methods, the measurement tools employed, average age and ethnicity of the study participants, and the author's recommendations.



Figure 1: Flow diagram showing the search strategy and the number of articles included after each step.

A thematic analysis (TA) was used to systematically identify patterns between the data (Braun & Clarke, 2012). The TA was from a deductive approach, as a research question had been posed. Further, a theoretical approach was used, as there is background information from the ACE-S (Felitti et al., 1998) that indicated a graded relationship between ACEs and chronic diseases, thus chronic pain, and this informed the research question. It was also the main theme searched for in the literature. This was done by six steps of:

- 1. Familiarisation of data, where each of the articles were read in full and the main information was tabled, as mentioned above.
- 2. Codes were created that represented features within the text that were believed to partially answer the research question. Examples of codes used are, *article provided a significant*

association; article claimed an association, but it was not significant; article did not have a significant association. Overall, 26 descriptive codes were created. Text, within the article, that was relevant to the codes were highlighted in representative colours for clarity.

- Themes were generated by collation of codes (Figure 2). To aid this process, article codes were compiled and additionally compared to see if any overlapped, thus the codes could be combined to help identify themes.
- 4. Themes were reviewed against data to assess accuracy. This involved going back to the initial table with general information and frequently going back to the articles to continually cross-check the themes.
- Definitions of themes were refined (Figures 3 and 4). This required setting the boundaries of the themes. This was to ensure that while the main themes related to each other, they remained independent.
- 6. Writing the findings with Braun and Clarke (2006) as a guide was a reminder to allow the themes to tell a story of what the current literature was demonstrating.
 (Braun & Clarke, 2006)

2.7 Quality and Rigour

To ensure the thematic analysis and reporting methods were kept to a high standard, reliability and validity steps were taken. In this section reliability and validity methods will be discussed, as they are imperative to create trustworthy findings (Roberts & Priest, 2006).

2.7.1 Reliability

Reliability refers to the reproducibility of the results if the same methods were to be used over time (Chetwynd, 2022). To increase the reliability of this scoping review the PRISMA-ScR checklist and Arksey and O'Malley (2005) framework were followed and documented in detail. This documentation allows for other researchers to follow the same methods to replicate the study and compare the results. Braun and Clarke's (2006) TA process were also followed and clearly stated for replication. These three frameworks have also been replicated by many other scoping reviews and are considered reliable when applied with rigour (Chetwynd, 2022).

Interterm consistency refers to the consistency of results between different articles (Fitzner, 2007), and was used to assess the strength of the relationship between ACEs and chronic pain. The more articles that provided evidence for a potential relationship, the stronger the relationship was deemed. This was supported by the authors reporting statistically significant data, most often the

difference in reporting chronic pain between those who had reported ACEs and those who had not reported ACEs.

2.7.2 Validity

Validity refers to whether the measurement scale is measuring what it is meant to measure (Bannigan & Watson, 2009; Burton et al., 2018). For example, in this study, inclusion and exclusion criteria were set, based on a pilot search, and previously read literature. This ensured that the articles that were being reviewed were the most appropriate articles to answer the research question. This is a form of content validity and is a minimum requirement for accepting a study's results (Bannigan & Watson, 2009). Defining the key words within the research question was another important step, as it reduced the ambiguity of the words (Weber, 1990).

Regarding the reviewed articles, predictive validity is an important element to answering the research question. The ideal method to measure this would have been longitudinal studies that used prospective reports of ACEs. This would allow the researchers to predict a likelihood for those who had experienced ACEs to then experience chronic pain in adulthood, thus finding a strong relationship. In turn, this prediction can be transferred into more research and eventually real-life situations (Weber, 1990).

2.8 Risk of Bias

Finally, the risk of bias in the scoping review will be discussed. This includes acknowledgement of the lack of critical appraisal of individual sources of evidence and further, reflexivity will be discussed, to provide an overview of the researcher's positionality and how reflexivity was maintained throughout the research process (Finlay, 2002).

2.8.1 Critical Appraisal

The PRISMA-ScR checklist includes a step to carry out a critical appraisal of individual sources of evidence, this was not done for this scoping review. Critical appraisals are often used to assess the internal validity of the individual article providing the data, and the conclusions the author makes of that data (MacDermid et al., 2009). As this scoping review's aim was to summarise the available literature and find any gaps (Arksey and O'Malley, 2007), assessing the validity was not a priority. However, to reduce the risk of bias, only peer-reviewed articles were included; any confounding factors to the relationship were noted (mediators); and the method design of the studies were documented, this included whether the participants were from a community or clinical setting, therefore acknowledging whom the conclusion of the data was relevant to. If this study were to be

replicated in the future, it would be recommended to carry out this method to retain trustworthiness of the findings, not only in the reviewed articles but in this scoping review also.

2.8.2 Reflexivity

In an attempt to reduce bias as much as possible, this final section will discuss how my positionality plays into the current study. Finlay (1998) defines reflexivity as a critical self-reflection and evaluation of our subjective responses and research methods. Further, the author states that acknowledging your own subjectivity adds to the validity of the research.

I developed an interest in how early life experiences can impact one's behaviour and cognition through a five-day intensive group therapy and after reading Bessel van der Kolk's renowned book *The Body Keeps the Score* (2014).

Growing up, pain seemed to be something that was always in the background, present but never making a sound. As I became older, it seemed a normal thing to complain about, that it was just a part of ageing. There were ailments within my direct family, and I have recurrent pain symptoms. Within my family in law, there were more ailments again. Yet, I and those around me would never make a connection between what happened early in life and the pain we were suffering today. Therefore, it was important for me to keep an open mind while reading the articles. Though I was aware of my own experience, it did not mean that it was the truth for everyone. Here, I was able to use an interpretivist paradigm to remove any bias but acknowledge that I could not separate myself from the findings.

Part of the deductive TA process involves using current knowledge of theories to shape the research question. However, this knowledge mainly came from literature, rather than from my own experiences. Using the coding method within TA allowed me to bracket my own experience and stay present to the texts I was reviewing, as I was only highlighting features of the text and not looking into depth of what the features of the text meant. Further, if I found something that I thought was interesting but not relevant, specifically if it felt relevant to me but not the research question, it was highlighted in a unique colour. This step in the process required constant reflection of not only the research question but my positionality also. Additionally, I had to actively turn away from any of my presumptions. As mentioned by Finlay (1998), this allowed me to approach each article genuinely. Finally, once the themes had been identified, it was important to reflect on what the results meant to me personally. However, I was careful to not let the findings dictate how I would perceive my own or other's journeys with developing and coping with chronic pain.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the three principles of Te Tiriti o Waitangi (The Treaty of Waitangi), partnership, participation, and protection (Hudson & Russell, 2009). During the period of

carrying out this study there was no need to directly address these principles. However, the protection of tangata whenua (people of New Zealand/Aotearoa) always sat close to my reflections of the findings. Specifically, are the ACE rates within the Māori population significantly higher, as a result of continual systematic oppression through post-colonialism. Further, what health outcomes, such as chronic pain, can be related back to ACEs?

Chapter Three: Results

The following chapter gives an overview of the reviewed articles, including a summary of the reviewed articles results in table form, and a discussion of the themes identified in the thematic analysis. These themes include "there is a potential relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood", "the ACE and chronic pain relationship is complex", and finally "there is more that needs to be done". This is followed by a synthesis of results.

3.1 Selection of Sources

Figure 1 in the previous chapter provides a flow chart of the number of articles found at each stage and within each database. After the title and abstract screening, 168 articles were identified as being potentially suitable. These were downloaded onto EndNote, where 77 duplicates were removed. After the full text screening 66 articles remained. Four articles were removed as they could not be accessed either in full text or in English. Eight articles were removed because the authors did not discuss a relationship between chronic pain and ACEs. Nine articles were removed because the pain measured was not chronic. One article was removed as it was a proposal for a systematic review, and another two were removed as they were not research articles.

3.2 Characteristics of Sources

For the 66 articles that met the inclusion criteria, the year and location of study, methods, measurement tools and major results were reviewed and analysed to identify themes within the research. Twenty-four studies were conducted in North America (United States of America and Canada), however there was a good spread across the European continent (n = 21). Nine articles were based within the Asian continent also (China, Japan, Turkey, Saudi Arabia, and Israel). It is important to note that no studies were carried out in New Zealand/Aotearoa.

The majority of the studies' participants were mainly or only females, as females were more likely to suffer from chronic pain conditions. There was a good mix of community and clinical studies, with two articles comparing community and clinical samples. Of the studies that reported ethnicity, the majority of participants were Caucasian. The average age for all the studies was 43.75 years.

Sixty-one studies were quantitative, cross-sectional, and retrospective in nature and one study was a narrative review, one was a systematic review on articles using prospective ACE reports, and three were qualitative studies with a small sample.

3.2.1 Measurement tools

ACE measurement tools. The studies used a range of measurement tools for ACEs. The CTQ (23) and the ACE-Q (five) were the most common tools used. The differences between the tools are, in the ACE-Q it is either a yes or no answer to whether an ACE was experienced, compared to the CTQ which uses a Likert scale (1 = never true, 5 = very often true). The CTQ would provide more context as to how frequent the ACE was experienced. Items that had been isolated and used from other questionnaires were another common method of assessing ACEs. For example, one study used an item from the Battery for Health Improvement 2 (BHI2) to affirm whether participants had been sexually abused as a child (Fishbain et al. 2014). In another study, one isolated item from the Canadian Community Health Survey – Mental Health (CCHS-MH) asked "how many times did an adult force you or attempt to force you into any unwanted sexual activity, by threatening you, holding you down or hurting you in some way?" (p. 737, Fuller-Thomson et al., 2020). A second common method was asking participants in interviews whether they had experienced ACEs. In one semi-structured interview, participants were asked "What were the most memorable events in your life?" (p. 2, Borini et al., 2021). This led to a deep conversation with the participants and gave qualitative data for the study.

Chronic Pain Measurement Tools. The range of measurement tools for chronic pain were much greater than the ACEs measurement tools. This could be due to the range of different chronic pain conditions covered in this scoping review. Isolated questionnaire items were a common measurement tool, especially for general chronic pain (GCP), chronic widespread pain (CWP), and chronic musculoskeletal pain (CMP). For example, one study questionnaire asked, "Have you ever been told by a doctor that you have chronic pain?" (p. 2, Daily et al., 2022). A second example is whether the participants had experienced "chronic neck or back problems, arthritis or rheumatism, frequent or severe headaches, or any other chronic pain over the last 12 months" (p. 4, Fowler et al., 2020).

The American College of Rheumatology criteria (ACR) was one of the most common tools used for fibromyalgia (FM) participants and the three studies that included rheumatoid arthritis (RA) participants. Another common measurement tool for FM and RA participants is the visual analogue scale (VAS).

To measure irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), the Rome III criteria was the most common tool used. Followed by the bowel syndrome questionnaire (BSQ) and the IBS symptom severity survey (IBS-SSS).

Other common measurement tools were the numeric pain scale, which was used for migraines, CWP and CMP. A question during interviews with participants, such as questions from the short form health survey (Hauser et al., 2019) or "Could you tell me when and how your pain started?" (p. 2, Borini et al., 2021). Lastly, physician diagnosis was a common way to confirm chronic pain diagnosis.

3.2.2 Relationship between ACE and Chronic Pain

Table 1 reports the characteristics of the reviewed articles using the Arksey and O'Malley (2005) framework, which provided evidence for a significant relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood.

Table 1:

Reviewed articles that claimed a significant relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in

adulthood.

Author, Year	Subjects	Results		
Achenbach et al.,	Clinical FM and MSD patients	ACEs had significant direct effect on MSD ($p < 0.0001$). Also, significantly mediated by leptin levels ($p =$		
2022		0.0491).		
Alciati et al., 2017	Clinical EM nationts	There were no significant differences between FM patients who had MDD and those who didn't have		
		MDD. Authors claimed that this suggested that ACEs are related to FM directly, not through mediation.		
	Clinical FM and RA with SFM	PN was independent risk factor for PFM (OR = 5.246). PFM reported significantly higher rates of SA		
Alciati et al., 2021	patients	than SFM (<i>p</i> = 0.005).		
Alsubaie et al		Weak, significant correlation between total ACEs score and IBS severity (r = 0.195, ρ = 0.043) and		
2022	Clinical IBS patients	abdominal pain (r = 0.240, p = 0.012).		
Bavram & Erol.				
2014	Clinical FM and RA patients	EA was significantly higher in FM ($p = 0.014$) and RA ($p = 0.043$) groups than the control group.		
Berens et al., 2020	Clinical IBS patients	IBS patients had a significantly higher prevalence of ACEs (OR = 1.33, $p = 0.02$) compared to HCs.		
Bradford et al.,	Community IBS participants	IBS nations had a significantly higher prevalence of ACEs ($n < 0.001$) compared the HCs		
2012				
Craner et al 2022	Clinical FM, CWP, CBP, and	Patients who reported more than 4 ACEs had greater pain $(n = 0.004)$ and pain interference $(n < 0.001)$		
	migraine patients	Patients who reported more than 4 ACES had greater pain ($p = 0.004$) and pain interference ($p < 0.001$).		
Daily et al., 2022	Clinical GCP patients	Patients with GCP had an AOR of 1.61 for reporting ACEs ($p \le 0.01$).		
Fowler et al., 2020	Community GCP participants	Those who reported 3 or more ACEs had an AOR of 3.28 ($p < 0.01$).		
Fuller-Thomson et	Community CCD participants	SA was directly associated with CCD $(h = 0.22, n < 0.001)$		
al., 2020	Community GCP participants	SA was directly associated with GCP ($b = 0.23$, $p < 0.001$).		
Generaal et al.,	Community GCP participants	CMP had OR of 1.56 ($n < 0.001$) of experiencing GCP		
2016				
Gonzalez et al.,	Community CBP and CHM	PA had OR of 1.86 ($p < 0.05$) of experiencing CBP/CHM. When comorbid with depression OR was 3.92		
2012	participants	(<i>p</i> < 0.05).		
Gunduz et al.,	Clinical FM patients	FM patients reported significantly more ACES ($p < 0.001$) compared to MPS and HCs.		
2018				
Halland et al.,	Clinical IBS patients	IBS patients had an OR of 1.56 (p = 0.008) for experiencing general trauma and OR of 1.70 (p < 0.001)		
2014		for EA, compared to controls.		
Hellou et al., 2017	Clinical FM and RA patients	FM patients reported significantly more EA (p = 0.003), EN (p = 0.01) and PN (p = 0.04) than RA		
		patients.		

Author(s), Year	Method	Results	
Johnson et al., 2020	Clinical FM and GCP	SA, PA and neglect were associated with pain severity ($p < 0.01$). PA and neglect were correlated were with widespread pain ($p < 0.05$). Only neglect correlated with continuous pain ($p < 0.01$).	
Ju et al., 2020	Clinical IBS patients	IBS patients an OR of 1.36 ($p < 0.001$) of experiencing two or more ACEs, compared to healthy contr	
Kascakova et al., 2020	Community vs clinical GCP participants	EA, EN and PN were more common in the community sample with pain and anxiety compared to health controls (all = $p < 0.001$) and community participants with other chronic health conditions (EN and PN = $p < 0.001$; EA = $p < 0.05$). EA, PA, PN, EN were more common in the clinical sample compare to the healthy controls (EA, PA, EN = $p < 0.001$; PN = $p < 0.01$) and community participants with othe chronic conditions (EA, PA, EN = $p < 0.001$; PN = $p < 0.01$). EA ($p < 0.01$), EN ($p < 0.01$) and PA ($p < 0.00$ were more common in the clinical sample than the community participants reporting anxiety and pa	
Kizilkurt et al., 2021	Clinical FM patients	FM severity was correlated with EA ($p < 0.05$), PA ($p < 0.01$) and PN ($p < 0.01$). However, after mediation of resilience, PN was indirectly associated with FM severity ($p = 0.006$) and lost significant direct association.	
Krantz et al., 2019	Clinical CPP patients	There was a significant association between all ACEs (except mental illness, parental separation or divorce, and incarcerated family member in the household) and CPP ($p < 0.05$).	
Liu et al., 2014	Community IBS participants	IBS students reported more ACEs than non-IBS students. However only EN was significantly higher ($p = 0.045$).	
Lobo et al., 2022	Community CMP participants	Participants with higher reported ACEs, hippocampal volume and FKBP5rs3800373 genetic risk were associated with more CMP ($p = 0.047$).	
Loevinger et al., 2012	Community FM participants	Those who reported more ACEs reported more pain ($p < 0.05$) compared to other groups (positive outlook, dysregulated biology and normal biology).	
Macedo et al., 2019	Clinical GCP patients	Those with chronic pain reported more ACEs than the group without pain (OR = 3.75 , $p = 0.05$).	
McCall-Hosenfeld et al., 2014	Clinical GCP patients	Women who reported more than three ACEs had an OR of 2.8 for experiencing more severe somatic symptoms. OR was not significant in males.	
Olivieri et al., 2012	Clinical vs community FM patients	FM patients had significantly higher reports of EA, PA, SA and mental illness in the household ($p < 0.001$).	
Oshima et al., 2015	Dyspepsia patients	Un-investigated dyspepsia patients reported more ACES than HCs ($p < 0.01$). IBS symptoms were more common in dyspepsia patients with ACEs compared to those without ACEs.	
Park et al., 2016	Community IBS participants	ACEs were correlated with IBS symptom severity ($p = 0.036$) and abdominal pain ($p = 0.015$). Reporting ACEs had an OR of 2.05 for having IBS, compared to HCs ($p = 0.008$).	
Piontek et al., 2021	Clinical CPPS patients	There was a significant association between ACEs and pain intensity ($p = 0.010$).	
Poli-Neto et al., 2018	Clinical CPP patients	CPP patients more commonly reported more than 4 ACEs, compared to HCs ($p = 0.02$). EN was the only significant higher ACE within the CPP group, compared to HCs ($p = 0.04$).	
Prangnell et al., 2019	Clinical GCP patients	Reporting EA gave a AOR of 1.25 for experiencing chronic pain in people who inject drugs.	
Rosenblat et al., 2020	Clinical IBS patients	Reports of SA were associated with increased rates of IBS (OR = 2.63, p = 0.002).	
Sach-Ericsson et al., 2017	Community mixed CP participants	EA and SA ($p < 0.001$), and parental loss ($p = 0.014$) were related to the number of pain related medical conditions at a 10-year follow-up.	

Author(s), Year	Method	Results	
Salonsalmi et al.,	Community GCP participants	Parental divorce (OR = 1.26) and mental illness (1.24) had a weak association with chronic pain.	
2022	community der participants	Substance abuse had an OR of 1.34 for experiencing chronic pain.	
		Eight studies gave evidence for an association between SA and IBS patients; 2 studies giving evidence	
Sansone &	Poviow	for association between EA and IBS, 1 study did not; 2 studies gave evidence for association between	
Sansone, 2015	Keview	PA and $IBS,4$ studies did not; 1 study gave evidence for association between combined ACEs and IBS, 2	
		did not.	
	Clinical FM and RA patients	FM patients had significantly higher ACEs than RA patients ($p = 0.018$). ACEs were correlated with FM	
Semiz et al., 2014		patients with trauma experiences ($p = 0.01$).	
Spiegel et al., 2015	Review	FM, IBS, CPP, CBP, CH all have evidence of a significant association with SA.	
Sprang et al., 2020	Community GCP participants	SA and PA had a PRR of 1.56 for experiencing pain limitations.	
Stickley et al.,	Community CBP participants	PA (OR = 1.88) and SA (OR = 2.84) had higher odds of experiencing CBP. Reporting more than 3 ACEs	
2015		had an OR of 2.83 for any chronic pain.	
Taghian et al		Those who reported SA (OR = 2.15) and PA (OR = 2.04) had greater likelihood of experiencing chronic	
2021	Clinical GCP patients	pain (both $p < 0.001$).	
Tesarz et al., 2016	Clinical CBP patients	EA ($p = 0.007$) and SA ($p < 0.001$) were both significantly more reported in the CBP patients than those	
		without CBP.	
Tidmarsh et al.,	Review	Reviewers found that those with ACEs are more likely to experience greater pain intensity, interference	
2022		and likelihood of having CP.	
Varinen et al.,	Community FM participants	FM had an OR of 2.15 for experiencing 3-6 ACEs compared to those who experienced none.	
2017			
Vora Cruz et al	Clinical FM patients	Using mean decrease accuracy plots, of the top 10 predictors of FM, four are ACEs (mistreatment,	
2022		abandoned by one parent, parental conflict and sexual abuse (strong association). Mistreatment had	
		an OR of 18.92 (<i>p</i> < 0.001).	
	Community GCP, GBP and CHM students	Model 1 gave an OR of 1.22 for ACEs predicting any chronic pain ($p < 0.001$) and OR of 1.31 for ACEs	
You et al., 2019		predicting CBP ($p < 0.001$). Model 2 gave an OR of 1.18 for ACEs predicting any chronic pain ($p < 0.05$),	
		and a OR of 1.50 for general trauma predicting any chronic pain ($p < 0.01$)	

Note: abbreviations as follows: ACEs = adverse childhood experiences; FM = fibromyalgia; MSD = multisomataform disorder; MDD = major depressive disorder; SFM = secondary fibromyalgia; IBS = irritable bowel syndrome; RA = rheumatoid arthritis; CMP = chronic musculoskeletal pain; CWP = chronic widespread pain; CBP = back pain; GCP = general chronic pain; CPP = chronic pelvic pain; AP = acute pain; CHM = chronic headache/migraines; MPS = myofascial pain syndrome; CPPS = chronic pelvic pain syndrome; CP = chronic pain; CH = chronic headache; SA = sexual abuse; PA = physical abuse; EA = emotional abuse; EN = emotional neglect; PN = physical neglect; OR = odds ratio; AOR = adjusted odds ratio; PRR = prevalence rate ratio; HCs = healthy controls.

Table 2 reports on the reviewed articles that gave mixed results for a relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood.

Table 2:

Reviewed articles that gave mixed results for a relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in

adulthood.

Author, Year	Subjects	Results
Borsini et al., 2014	Narrative review	All papers, bar 2 (Ciccone et al., 2005; van Houdenhove et al., 2001), showed a relationship between ACE and CFS and FM. 2 studies also showed a relationship between ACE and pain symptoms in FM patients (Sigurdardottir & Halldorsdottir, 2013; Walker et al. 1997).
Coppens et al., 2017	Clinical FM and CWP patients	FM/CWP had significantly higher reports of ACEs (<i>p</i> < 0.006), compared to FD and achalasia. However, there was no significant association between ACEs and pain in FM/CWP, nor a dose- response relationship between ACEs and FM/CWP pain.
Craner & Lake, 2021	Clinical FM, CWP, BP, and migraine patients	There were higher reports of chronic pain in those who had experienced more than three ACEs, however no statistical significance analysis was reported.
De Roa et al., 2018	Clinical FM and migraine patients	PA was the only domain that had a significant difference between FM and migraines ($p < 0.01$). Chronicity was not included in the migraines criteria, however there was no correlational statistics reported.
Filippon et al., 2013	Clinical FM patients	Regression model showed a significant association between loss of functionality and trauma scores, especially within clients with no depression. Though clients with depression had higher FIQ scores. No correlational statistics were reported.
Kamiya et al., 2016	Community GCP participants	Those who reported SA had OR of 1.23 for experiencing chronic pain all over body. However, after adjusting for depression and anxiety, the association was no longer significant.
Kascakova et al., 2020	Community migraine and GCP participants	ACEs had a direct effect on reporting migraines ($p = 0.010$) but not on other chronic pain conditions. However, after adjusting for adult attachment, ACEs had indirect effect and lost significance for a direct effect on migraine reports.
McKernan et al., 2019	Clinical IC/BPS patients	IC/BPS reported more ACEs than other chronic pain conditions, however it was not significant.
Mehta et al., 2027	Clinical GCP patients	SA had indirect effect on pain disability through psychological distress ($p < 0.05$).
Nacak et al., 2017	Clinical SPD patients	ACEs were significantly higher in SPD patients ($p < 0.05$), however after multiple binary logistic regression analysis, there was no longer a significant association.
Schrepf et al., 2018	Clinical CPP patients	CPP participants reported more ACEs and greater ACE severity, than HCs (both $p < 0.001$). However, the significance was lost after mediation analysis.
Sweeney et al., 2015	Clinical GCP and CHM patients	Those who reported ACEs were more likely to experience chronic pain than those who did not report ACEs ($p < 0.001$). However, after secondary analysis, significance was lost.
Yeung et al., 2016	Community FM participants	EN and PN were associated with less cortisol change over time, which predicts pain in FM (p < 0.05). However, SA, PA and EA had no significant association.

Note: abbreviations as follows: ACEs = adverse childhood experiences; FM = fibromyalgia; CFS = chronic fatigue syndrome; FD = functional dyspepsia; CWP = chronic widespread pain; FIQ = fibromyalgia impact questionnaire; IC/BPS = interstitial cystitis, bladder pain syndrome; SPD = somatoform pain disorder; CPP = chronic pelvic pain; HCs = healthy controls; SA = sexual abuse; PA = physical abuse; EA = emotional abuse; EN = emotional neglect; PN = physical neglect; OR = odds ratio. Table 3 reports the reviewed articles that could not claim a relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood.

Table 3:

Reviewed articles that could not claim a relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood.

Author, Year	Subjects	Results
Fishbain et al., 2014	Clinical GCP and AP vs community participants, with and without GCP	SA was not significantly associated with chronic pain in females.
Hauser et al., 2019	Community chronic noncancer pain patients	There was no significant association of any GCP and disabling GCP with any ACE, compared to non-pain controls. There was a large effect between any GCP and disabling GCP with > 65 years of age.
Marin et al., 2021	Systematic Review	Three articles gave low quality evidence for a significant association between maltreatment and pain. However, after adjusting for covariates two of the studies no longer had a significant association. Mixed low-quality evidence for maltreatment types having more of an association than others. Overall, no evident association between pain and maltreatment.
Waller et al., 2016	Clinical FM patients	There was a significant correlation between FIQ scores and PA scores in FM patients. But overall, the data could not support a relationship between self-reported ACEs (specifically PA and SA) on health outcomes. EA had significant correlation with depression scores in FM patients.
Note: abbreviati	ons as follows: ACEs = adverse child	hood experiences; FM = fibromyalgia; CWP = chronic widespread pain;

CBP = back pain; GCP = general chronic pain; AP = acute pain; SA = sexual abuse; PA = physical abuse; EA = emotional abuse.

Table 4 reports on the three reviewed articles that used a qualitative method design to investigate the relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood.

Table 4:

Reviewed qualitative articles.

Author, Year	Method	Results
Borini et al., 2021	Unstructured interviews with clinical CMP patients	A qualitative overview of 20 participants lives, describing adverse childhood experiences.
Sigurdardottir & Halldorsdottir, 2013	Semi structured interviews with clinical GCP and FM patients	Seven women, all had experienced SA before the age of 12, from multiple people. All experienced some form of chronic pain (abdominal and pelvic). Six had been diagnosed with FM.
Sigurdardottir & Halldorsdottir, 2018	Clinical single patient, mixed CP	One woman's experience with repeated sexual trauma from a young age to adulthood. Chronic comorbidity with various chronic illnesses (CWP, FM, ovarian pain, CMP in adulthood)

Note: abbreviations as follows: FM = fibromyalgia; CMP = chronic musculoskeletal pain; CWP = chronic widespread pain; GCP = general chronic pain; SA = sexual abuse

3.3 Themes Generated from the Thematic Analysis

After the articles had been full text screened and coded, three themes were identified (Figure 2). The themes were reviewed twice before arriving at the final themes (Figure 3 and 4). The first theme, "there is a potential relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood", directly answers the research question and the aim of this scoping reviewing. Two subthemes were also identified (Figure 4). The first subtheme, "the ACE and chronic pain relationship is complex" acknowledges there is not a linear pathway. The second subtheme, "there is more that needs to be done", gives a direction for future research. This final theme was identified from the suggestions that the authors gave. Due to the complexity of the research topic, it would require professionals from varied backgrounds to work together and develop this body of knowledge. From this development of knowledge, more people who experience chronic pain may find relief from their condition, and a greater goal of reducing a reliance on healthcare could be achieved. Hence the term "more" is used, purposely kept broad in the hope to not limit further suggestions.

Figure 2:



Initial themes identified from the descriptive codes in the thematic analysis.

Note: abbreviations as follows: ACEs = adverse childhood experiences; CP = chronic pain; HPA = hypothalamus-pituitaryadrenal; HD = household dysfunctions; EA = emotional abuse; SA = sexual abuse; PA = physical abuse; EN = emotional neglect; PN = physical neglect; IBS = irritable bowel syndrome; FM = fibromyalgia; OR = odds ratio. **Reviewed articles critiquing ACE and chronic pain relationship.** Overall, there were four studies (Table 3), that did not find a statistically significant relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood. Hauser et al., (2019) found a large effect size for chronic noncancer pain (CNCP) and disabling CNCP participants that were more than 65 years of age. However, when the authors looked at the independent ACEs and the potential relationship with CNCP, there was no statistically significant association. The small effect found in univariate analysis of combined ACEs being associated with CNCP could not be detected after multivariate analysis (Hauser et al., 2019).

A second study looked to affirm rates of sexual abuse in chronic pain and acute pain patients, and community patients with and without pain. Though there were higher numbers of childhood sexual abuse in female patients (both community and clinical), there was no significant difference between patients with pain and those without. Therefore, the authors could not claim a significant association (Fishbain et al., 2014).

The final study, did find a weak correlation between physical abuse and chronic pain but after multivariate analysis the correlation was no longer significant, and the authors concluded their data did not support a relationship between both physical and sexual abuse and FM. Of note however, emotional abuse did significantly correlate with depression in FM patients (Waller et al., 2016).

Figure 3:

First review and edit of themes.



Note: abbreviations as follows: ACEs = adverse childhood experiences; CP = chronic pain.

Figure 4:

Second and final review of themes.



Note: abbreviations as follows: ACEs = adverse childhood experiences; CP = chronic pain

3.3.1 There is a Potential Relationship Between ACEs and Chronic Pain in Adulthood.

Quantitative studies. Most articles (n = 46) reviewed provided statistically significant evidence for a potential relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood (Table 1). A range of different chronic pain conditions were studied, including fibromyalgia (FM) or chronic widespread pain (CWP), irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), chronic pelvic pain (CPP), chronic musculoskeletal pain (CMP), multisomatoform disorder (MSD), chronic back pain (CBP), chronic headaches and migraines (CHM), and general chronic pain (GCP). FM (20 articles) was the most studied chronic pain condition within the reviewed articles, followed by GCP (14 articles). Of the 66 articles reviewed, 62 provided an initial significant relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood. However, of the articles that carried out multivariate analysis, six studies could not support the significant direct association between ACEs and chronic pain (Table 2 and 3). Further, five studies did not find or did not report statistically significant associations, yet still claimed a potential relationship between ACEs and chronic pain (Table 3).

It was suggested by 11 reviewed articles that specific domains would be directly associated with specific chronic pain conditions. However, across all the reviewed articles there was no specific domain that was directly associated with a specific chronic pain condition, more than another domain. Rather each condition had a good spread of each of the domains. For example, FM was directly associated with both emotional abuse and household dysfunction in five articles each, both physical and sexual abuse in four articles each, and both emotional and physical neglect in three articles each. In each of the chronic pain conditions, sexual abuse was one of the highest reported direct associations. However, it was the most researched ACE, with 19 of the reviewed articles reporting on it. Substance abuse in the household was significantly correlated with sexual abuse. A second study adds to this with the results showing that neglect and abuse shared 64% variance, therefore although abuse did not have a significant association with FM, it still may play a role (Yeung et al., 2016). This was also backed up by Sprang et al. (2020), who reported a combination of sexual and physical abuse with adult abuse generated larger odd ratios. These results suggest the

risk for chronic pain increases through the cumulative impact of ACEs, rather than independent direct effect (Nacak et al., 2016).

Qualitative Articles. Three articles were qualitative studies (Table 4). One explored 20 patients' life experiences with ACEs in Sao Paulo, Brazil (Borini et al., 2021). A second study was done with seven women in Iceland, who had all experienced sexual abuse before the age of 12, and by multiple people (Sigurdardottir & Halldorsdottir, 2013). The third was a semi-structured interview with one woman who discussed her experience with sexual abuse from a very young age, again from multiple people (Sigurdardottir & Halldorsdottir, 2018). Each of these 28 participants, all experienced some form of chronic pain in their lifetime and were receiving treatment for it. For example, of the seven women in the Iceland study, six of them had received a diagnosis for FM (Sigurdardottir & Halldorsdottir, 2013). A similarity between the three qualitative articles is a discussion of the role that healthcare professionals have played in the patients' chronic pain experience.

Article Reviews. Five reviews were also included in this scoping review. One article focused on IBS and found there was evidence for a significant relationship between IBS and sexual abuse, however evidence was unclear for emotional and physical abuse (Sansone & Sansone, 2015). A second review found evidence that FM, IBS, CPP, CBP and CHM all have a significant relationship with sexual abuse (Spiegel et al., 2015). A third review found support for those who had experienced ACEs had greater pain intensity, pain interference, and a likelihood of experiencing chronic pain (Tidmarsh et al., 2022). Borsini et al. (2014) found majority of their reviewed articles, except for two, had a significant relationship between ACEs and FM. Conversely, a systematic review carried out by Marin et al. (2021) found mixed results for significant relationships, the data they reviewed was considered to have weak correlations and to be of low-quality. Therefore, the authors concluded there was no sufficient indication for a relationship between ACEs and chronic pain, but rather post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) may have more of an influence than the adverse experience itself. Inclusion of the five different reviews meant that there was more literature included in the scoping review. This includes one article that reviewed nine longitudinal studies based on prospective reports of ACEs.

3.3.2 The ACE and Chronic Pain Relationship is Complex.

As mentioned above, there were studies that could not claim a significant direct effect of ACEs on chronic pain after secondary analysis. A range of mediators were the cause, but the main factors included PTSD (Coppens et al., 2017), unemployment (Poli-Neto et al., 2018; Schrepf et al., 2018), cortisol levels (Yeung et al., 2016; Achenbach et al., 2022), anxiety (Park et al., 2016), and depression (Gonzalez et al., 2012; Borsini et al., 2014; Piontek et al., 2021). Two studies however found when

depression symptoms were low, ACEs had a greater influence on chronic pain (Filippon et al., 2013; Sachs-Ericsson et al., 2017). A third article adds to the depression mediation conversation, by discussing the impact of depression in the household. Not only is it included in the ACE domains but is known to be heritable (Piontek et al., 2021). Therefore, it is likely participants who report household dysfunction, specifically mental illness in the household, may also experience both chronic pain and depression in adulthood. This was reiterated by Sachs-Ericsson and colleagues (2017) and Salonsalmi and colleagues (2022). Two articles reported on the adult attachment styles effect on reporting chronic pain. Nacak et al. (2017) found that somatoform pain disorder patients were more likely to have insecure attachment style (OR = 11.20). The second study found that adult attachment mediated the ACE and chronic migraine relationship, in full (Kascakova et al., 2020). Comparatively, confiding in others about ACEs was identified as a protective factor for chronic pain (Ju et al., 2020)

To look for a connection between ACEs and chronic pain, many of the articles referenced the effect of a dysregulated HPA axis or inflammation, which could lead to over sensitisation or a dysregulated central nervous system (Bradford et al., 2012; Mehta et al., 2017; Gunduz et al., 2018;). One of the reviewed articles (Yeung et al., 2016) observed what a dysregulated HPA axis would look like in community FM subjects. Yeung et al. (2016) found when both physical and emotional neglect were modelled as predictors of chronic pain, daytime cortisol levels became plateaued throughout the day, rather than gradually declining, thus showing a dysregulated HPA axis. This further indicated the physical and emotional neglect effect on chronic pain is indirect and partially mediated by daily cortisol levels. As mentioned, it was only a partial mediation, as the relationship was still significant after analysis. However, Yeung et al. (2016) did not find a significant mediated effect when the abuse domains were used as predictors. Achenbach et al. (2022) also supported this hypothesis, with their research finding that there were significantly lower cortisol levels in the group reporting mild amounts of ACEs compared to those that reported no ACEs (p = 0.032).

Hellou et al. (2017) also discussed the potential confounding variable of the 2014 Israel-Gaza conflict, which is when participants were being recruited for the study. The authors previously reported the effects this kind of stress can have on the population, such as increased rates of somatic symptoms, similar to FM symptoms and anxiety symptoms. Generaal et al. (2016) also reported in their study that recent life stress had the same significant effect on chronic pain as ACEs.

3.3.3 There is More That Needs to Be Done.

The final theme which was identified in 42 of the reviewed articles was the recommendation that more research was needed to develop the body of knowledge around chronic pain, and further the

understanding of the relationship between ACEs and chronic pain. Several authors suggested further development of their own research projects.

Specific focus areas for further research included the biological and environmental interaction on chronic pain, to understand the pathogenesis of CMP better (Lobo et al., 2022) and the ACE and chronic pain relationship, as this would help to develop prevention and interventions for chronic pain (Halland et al., 2014). Berens et al. (2021) made suggestions for the need of further research on why some people with ACEs have remained healthy and whether that can be correlated with specific coping mechanisms. Another suggestion from Berens and colleagues (2021) was the need for more chronic pain research in males, this was also previously suggested by Bradford and colleagues (2012).

As part of the recommendations for exploring why people respond differently to ACEs, resilience as a protective factor was discussed. One reviewed article found that within the general German adult population, resilience was not a protective factor for experiencing chronic pain (Hauser et al., 2019). In contrast, Kizilkurt et al. (2021) found in their study that resilience did act as a protective factor for those who had reported experiencing ACEs and were now experiencing chronic pain. Two other reviewed articles (Poli-Neto et al., 2018; Tidmarsh et al., 2022) made conclusive statements, based on previous research, that resilience is a protective factor. However, Poli-Neto et al. (2018) highlights that there is a complex interaction between resilience and one's vulnerability to stress. Two other reviewed articles add to this by discussing the negative impact stress has on resilience (Ju et al., 2021; Achenbach et al., 2022).

Finally, five reviewed articles discussed that resilience, in relation to ACEs and chronic pain, would be an area where future research is warranted. Specifically, Krantz et al. (2019) discussed that by identifying the factors that encourage resilience in at-risk populations, treatments can be informed by the new information, which may lead to an improvement in childhood experiences. Sachs-Ericsson et al. (2017) discussed using future studies on resilience to improve and develop psychotherapeutic treatments. The other three studies (Mehta et al., 2017; Fuller-Thomson et al., 2020; Kascakova et al., 2020) only highlighted that it would be an interesting area for future research.

Some methodological recommendations were also identified in the reviewed articles, which included a general call for more research to occur with prospective reports of ACEs (Liu et al., 2014; Marin et al., 2021) and for research to be longitudinal (Alciati et al., 2017; Hauser et al., 2019; Johnson et al., 2020; Alciati et al., 2021). The reports of ACEs were retrospective, thus many of the authors highlighted the limitation of recall bias (Generaal et al., 2016; Fowler et al., 2020). A second methodological recommendation identified in 23 reviewed articles, was to screen chronic pain

patients for ACEs as this would expand treatment options for chronic pain symptoms. One article did raise concerns that screening may cause alienation between the healthcare professional and the patients (Daily et al., 2022) and Gunduz et al. (2018) also raised the issue of screening in outpatient clinics, where the patients may not feel comfortable disclosing ACEs in an unpersonal environment.

3.5 Synthesis of Results

This review has provided an overview of 66 articles published between 2012 and 2022. Overall, they cover a wide range of chronic pain conditions and the majority give evidence to suggest a potential relationship exists between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood. However, it's a complex pathway, often mediated by other variables such as depression, or minimised due to resilience or confiding with another person. Further, there is still the need for more research, though there is confidence that future research, screening chronic pain patients for ACEs, and psychoeducation will aid in the prevention and treatment of chronic pain.

Chapter Four: Discussion

This chapter will discuss the findings from the thematic analysis. This includes the relevance of the themes identified; the potential gaps that were found in the reviewed literature; and future research recommendations. The limitations of the current scoping review will also be discussed.

4.1 Overview of the results

The aim of this project was to provide a scoping review of literature on the potential relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood and identify any potential gaps in the literature. The following sections discuss the findings in accordance with these aims.

4.1.1 There Is a Potential Relationship Between ACEs and Chronic Pain in Adulthood.

The findings of this scoping review suggest there is a potential relationship between ACEs and adulthood chronic pain. It is important the term "potential" is used, as all the reviewed studies used retrospective reports of ACEs, rather than prospective reports within longitudinal studies, thus causality could not be confirmed. Additionally, the reviewed articles often reported a lack of a linear association between the ACEs and chronic pain. The non-linear nature of this relationship was attributed to several factors. These factors included allostatic load, which dysregulates the central nervous system or the hypothalamus pituitary adrenal (HPA) axis which puts people at a higher risk of chronic pain due to increased sensitivity to pain (Kendall-Tackett, Marshall, & Ness, 2003). Further, a dysregulated HPA axis was often attributed to mediating factors, including psychological disorders, such as depression (Danese & McEwen, 2012; Gonzalez et al., 2012; Borsini et al., 2014). Another factor which contributes to the non-linear nature of the relationship between ACEs and chronic pain is related to the timing of physical and sexual abuse, which indicates that ACEs in the first five-years of life would put the child at increased risk of a dysregulated HPA axis (Lobo et al., 2022) and in turn increases the risk of experiencing chronic pain in adulthood. This could be due to the more vulnerable state that an infant is in, compared to a child that feels safe enough to go to school on their own (six years and older; Arnett et al., 2020)

Coppens et al. (2017) have suggested that the impact of the ACEs rather than the mere presence of an ACE was a key factor in the relationship between ACE and chronic pain, which highlights the need to understand the impact of cumulation versus severity. To clarify, is one singular event of physical abuse enough to cause dysregulation in the HPA axis or a change in cortisol levels? Or does the ACE need to occur frequently? Allostatic load is based on the chronic activation of nervous, endocrine, and immune systems (Danese & McEwen, 2012). Therefore, it would be assumed that there needs to be a significant impact from the ACE, whether that means it occurred frequently to not allow the systems to return to normal functioning; or the ACE was severe enough for the systems to stay activated (e.g., sexual abuse). Within this hypothesis, it would also be assumed that the child's level of resilience would determine how much the ACE impacted them.

4.1.2 The Relationship Between ACEs and Chronic Pain in Adulthood is Complex.

Many of the reviewed studies identified mediating variables between ACEs and chronic pain, which highlight the complexity of the relationship. For example, depression was a common mediator (Gonzalez et al., 2012; Kamiya et al., 2016; Krantz et al., 2019; Fuller-Thomson et al., 2020; Ju et al., 2020). This is supported by other articles that found ACEs predicted depression (Amone-P'olak & Letswai, 2020; LeMasters et al., 2021; Satinski et al., 2021), and comparatively chronic pain had a direct association with depression (Munce et al., 2006; Van Hecke et al., 2017; Yin et al., 2021). A hypothesis that relates to how a child would express their emotions, and thus may give further explanation for depression as a mediator. If a child felt grief that their parents were separating, yet they were the eldest child so felt they had to stay strong for the younger siblings, their emotions may be felt somatically (Filippon et al., 2013; Penninx et al., 2013). This may develop into chronic pain in the future. Alternatively, the emotions may be felt psychologically and may result in depressive symptoms (Filippon et al., 2013). To add to this complexity, if one parent experienced depression, there is an increased genetic risk for the child to also experience depression (Wurtman, 2005). Therefore, not only is the child increasing their risk to chronic pain due to genetic predisposition but also due to having an ACE of a mental illness in the household. Additionally, Prangnell et al. (2019) mention that experiencing depression may increase poor coping mechanisms, such as catastrophisation, and thus develop acute pain into chronic pain.

The findings from the scoping review also indicated that part of the complex nature of the relationship was that some ACE domains were more likely to result in the experience of chronic pain than others. Johnson et al. (2020) found that different experiences of abuse and neglect were associated with different pain elements. For example, sexual and physical abuse, and neglect were all associated with pain severity, whereas only physical abuse and neglect were associated with widespread pain, and only neglect was associated with continuous pain. Another example is Piontek et al. (2021). who found that emotional abuse was highly prevalent within their chronic pelvic pain syndrome (CPPS) sample. Therefore, it may be suggested that different ACEs may be felt in different parts of the body. For example, emotional abuse and neglect may be more commonly reported by those who experience IBS due to the microbiota-gut-brain axis, which is commonly dysregulated through the presence of stress (Cryan et al., 2019). From the reviewed articles that mentioned ACE

prevalence, the most common ACE was either household dysfunction, specifically parental loss (death or separation) and substance abuse in the home. This relates back to Felitti et al. (1998) who also found substance abuse within the home to be the most common ACE reported. However, given most of the articles did not use the ACE-Q scale, thus did not include household dysfunction as an ACE, it could be implied that reports of neglect covered the aforementioned household dysfunction subscales. Piontek et al. (2021) also considered the influence of psychological conditions on the development and perpetuation of CPPS, which further led the authors to suggest that ACEs should be screened for in patients who present with CPPS.

Another complexity to the researched relationship is the influence of culture. Oshima et al. (2015) discussed whether some cultures were more susceptible to ACEs than others. This could be expanded to hypothesize that some cultures may experience some ACEs more than others (Kalmakis & Chandler, 2013), through cultural norms of discipline (physical and emotional abuse); systematic bias which may perpetuate household dysfunctions (mental illness and substance abuse in the home, and someone in the home going to jail); or lower socioeconomic communities working long hours, for a small income (emotional and physical neglect). Conversely, some cultures may not express pain as much as others (Lovering, 2006), whether this is due to responsibilities a person has that does not allow them to think of their own ailments, or whether the culture has beneficial coping mechanisms to reduce pain expression. The measurement of this hypothesis could only be done in population studies. Further, only conducting clinical studies may cause bias, as some cultures are not able to access healthcare, particularly healthcare that conducts research, due to high costs, limited places available, or not living within appropriate zones or neighbourhoods. The Ministry of Health (2021) determined that there are higher numbers of those who suffer from chronic pain living in the more deprived neighbourhoods. Yet, Nelson et al. (2019) posited that those with higher levels of ACEs are less likely to engage with healthcare programmes, such as an outpatient rehabilitation treatment. Therefore, if future research was to investigate cultural influences, researchers would need to accommodate for participates who may not have access to quality healthcare, to ensure no bias occurs and does not reduce the chance for specific cultures to participate.

4.1.3 There is More That Needs to be Done.

Through the complex nature of this ACE and chronic pain relationship, it is clear that more research is needed. As mentioned in the findings, the biological and environmental interaction is one specific area of focus that was recommended. Lobo et al. (2022) found that a combination of genetic risk alleles, small hippocampal volume, and ACEs increases the risk for experiencing chronic pain. This would indicate that if a child was to experience an ACE, they could be screened to see whether

they have the genetic risk allele or a small hippocampal volume, and thus chronic pain could be prevented as much as possible. However, it would be important to know whether age has an influence on the risk allele or the hippocampal volume being present at appropriate levels to measure.

Berens et al. (2021) also mentioned focusing future research on why some people have remained healthy after experiencing ACEs. This in turn may highlight positive coping mechanisms that are being used. This information would allow practitioners to use treatments and interventions from a strengths-based framework, which may benefit chronic patients who also experience depressive symptoms or illness anxiety.

A final research area of recommendation is for an increase in male and gender diverse representation. A common conclusion from the reviewed articles was that females were more likely to suffer from both ACEs and chronic pain. However, females were more often overrepresented in studies or the only gender within studies. Therefore, there is a gap in the conclusions that can be made on how the potential relationship relates to males and to those who identify as gender diverse. One study found that those within the LGBTQ+ community, particularly transgender and non-conforming gender, have significantly higher rates of ACEs, with 43% of the respondents reporting four or more ACEs (Craig et al., 2020). This is significantly higher than Felitti et al.'s (1998) study (6.2%) and the reviewed articles that reported this statistic. Two of the qualitative articles only interviewed women and the third qualitative article had a prevalence of 85% for female participants (Borini et al., 2021). Again, this highlights the overrepresentation of women in these studies. One theory for the lack of representation of males in these ACE and chronic pain studies is due to societal and cultural standards for males to suppress emotions and any notions of being in pain which might result in males also not reporting to healthcare services for treatment. It is interesting to mention the statistic from the Ministry of Health 2020/21 Survey, that Pasifika males in Aotearoa/New Zealand experience chronic pain more than Pasifika females (Ministry of Health, 2021). This would imply that Pasifika males are reporting to healthcare services. No literature was identified to support whether cultural roles influenced this disparity, and thus would be another research recommendation.

The methodological recommendation of screening patients for ACEs would allow practitioners to investigate the use of broader interventions to alleviate chronic pain symptoms. For example, the Pain Rehabilitation Programme (Mary Free Bed Rehabilitation Hospital, United States of America) screened for ACEs in an initial consultation with a psychologist. The programme was over a 10-week period and included pain psychological treatment using an acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) framework, as well as occupational therapy, physical therapy, and opioid tapering (Craner &

Lake, 2021). This highlights the range of professionals that would need to be involved. Craner and Lake (2021) concluded that using interdisciplinary rehabilitation may be suitable for those with prior ACEs, as there is a focus on functional restoration for both physical and mental health. Further, the authors found that the pain rehabilitation programme had positive outcomes for participants at discharge.

Screening and interventions for resilience has been suggested based on the findings that imply those with higher levels of resilience had less reports of somatisation and psychological disorders (Goldenson et al., 2021). Building resilience may be one way to improve chronic pain symptoms, especially within the context of ACEs. For example, if a child experienced divorce within their family, yet they had strong social support from grandparents or peers, it could be predicted that the child would still develop resilience, or a secure attachment style (Sippel et al., 2015). However, it is noted that there is variation within definitions for resilience (Smith et al., 2008). Therefore, it would be important to clarify a definition within future research, such as the definition used by Smith and colleagues (2008) in their Brief Resilience Scale.

4.1.4 Summary

In summary, this scoping review provides support, based on 66 reviewed articles, for a potential relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood. However, the reviewed articles describe this relationship as a potential one, and as a complex relationship. Considerations include the biological pathology which can be traced back to both the endocrine (HPA axis) and nervous (inflammation) systems; or the psychological pathology which is mediated by disorders such as depression. There is further complexity surrounding the theory that some ACE domains are associated with certain chronic pain disorders. Within these complexities, future research was recommended by 42 of the reviewed articles. This was often with the idea that further knowledge would lead to developments in prevention and treatments of chronic pain in adulthood existed. Therefore, these authors recommended that ACEs should be screened for in chronic pain patients, so that treatment options could be expanded.

4.1.5 Clinical Implications

This scoping review implies that the pathology of chronic pain is multifaceted, however there is a potential for ACEs to play a significant role in the development of chronic pain. Therefore, this scoping review could be useful for specialists and primary healthcare practitioners. The incorporation of ACE screening in chronic pain patients, as recommended by the reviewed articles,

may be one way of identifying other therapies, such as ACT, to alleviate chronic pain symptoms. This may be especially important for patients who have previously been resistant to treatments. Additionally, the inclusion of resilience screening, such as the Brief Resilience Scale (Smith et al., 2008), could encourage development of resilience in those that have experienced ACEs, and may be one pathway to reduce a later health outcome of chronic pain. Alsubaie et al., (2022) discussed the need to go beyond screening and begin a preventative measure of raising awareness with adults and parents around the negative impacts of ACEs and educating children of the benefits of seeking help. This is backed up by Ju et al. (2020) claiming a protective factor for chronic pain is confiding in others.

4.2 Limitations of the Scoping Review

To aid in future research, certain limitations of this study need to be acknowledged. Due to time constraints an article search could not be done within the reference lists of the reviewed articles. Therefore, it is acknowledged that other literature in the field may exist but has not been identified. Secondly, it would have been pertinent to carry out the article search a second time to show the reliability of the method. Finally, without a time constraint, the codes developed from the thematic analysis could have been discussed with a second person, additionally the second person could assess the accuracy of the codes against the reviewed articles. Again, this would strengthen the reliability of the thematic analysis based on inter-rater reliability.

Another limitation relates to the range of different tools used to measure ACEs and chronic pain, which reduced the construct validity. For example, the childhood trauma questionnaire (CTQ) was the most used tool, yet it only covers abuse (sexual, emotional, physical) and neglect (emotional and physical) history, whereas the ACE-Q includes household dysfunctions. Additionally, some measurement tools were single question items used within a larger and broader questionnaire or within an interview. Fishbain et al. (2014) highlighted in their article that contrasts in results could be due to the variations in definitions for ACEs between the measurement tools. These limitations suggest that there may be variation in the data, which further may result in some articles having stronger associations between ACEs and chronic pain, compared to others. However, the inclusion of the variety of tools can be considered a strength, as this scoping review provides an overview of what tools are being used within the literature.

A final limitation relates to the absences of studies carried out within an Aotearoa/New Zealand context, therefore making generalisability to the New Zealand/Aotearoa population difficult. A longitudinal study, carried out by Danese and colleagues (2009), found that children in New Zealand/Aotearoa exposed to adverse psychological experiences were at high risk for depression,

and high inflammation levels. As previously mentioned, both depression and inflammation are associated with chronic pain in adulthood. The Ministry of Health and the previously mentioned Growing up in New Zealand study (Walsh et al., 2019) have shown the high levels of chronic pain and ACEs (respectively) within the New Zealand/Aotearoa population. Therefore, assumptions can be made regarding the potential relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood within a New Zealand/Aotearoa context yet are limited by the lack of specific research and thus, no conclusions can be made regarding the potential relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood with a New Zealand/Aotearoa context.

4.3 Future Research Recommendations

With the gaps found in the literature, it is recommended that research on the relationship between ACEs and chronic pain in adulthood should be carried out within a New Zealand/Aotearoa context. This would also allow for further definitions to be created and made relevant to New Zealand/Aotearoa populations. Large population studies, such as the Growing Up in New Zealand study, would be a good place to start, as they already have early prospective reports on ACEs. This would allow the researchers to address chronic pain reports in any follow-up interviews with participants. Not only would this be the only longitudinal prospective study in New Zealand/Aotearoa, but also one of only a small few internationally.

It would be important to validate the ACE-Q in the New Zealand/Aotearoa population, particularly for indigenous populations. Māori are typically overrepresented in statistics representing violent behaviour (Mikahere-Hall, 2017) and poor health outcomes (Reid & Robson, 2000; Tauri et al., 2005). To validate the ACE-Q within the Māori population, it would be recommended to use a Kaupapa Māori methodology to ensure that the Te Tiriti o Waitangi principles are being upheld, and better rapport can be built between the researcher and participants.

4.4 Conclusion

This scoping review summarised the literature of 66 articles that measured and discussed a potential relationship between adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and chronic pain in adulthood. Findings suggested a potential relationship to be present, yet this is likely to be complex, involving mediator variables such as depression, anxiety, and resilience. A dysregulated hypothalamus pituitary adrenal axis was often considered as the underlying biological factor that develops the relationship between ACEs and chronic pain. However, gaps were found in the research, such as a lack of longitudinal studies with prospective reports of ACEs, no articles examining the relationship in gender diverse communities, and no articles within a New Zealand/Aotearoa context. Thus, future

research is recommended to address these gaps. This current scoping review may contribute to the development of more appropriate treatment for those who suffer from chronic pain, and community programmes that educate people on the impacts of ACEs. Each of these developments could have the goal of developing resilience in those who have suffered ACEs, and then we may see a long-term result of reduced health issues and utilisation of healthcare services.

References

- Achenbach, J., Volkmann, L., Tran, A. T., Jäger, B., Rhein, M., Glahn, A., Bernateck, M., & Karst, M. (2022). Neurohumoral Profiles and Childhood Adversity of Patients with Multisomatoform Disorder and Pain as the Leading Bodily Symptom. *Disease Markers, 2022*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/7958375
- Alciati, A., Atzeni, F., Grassi, M., Caldirola, D., Riva, A., Sarzi-Puttini, P., & Perna, G. (2017). Childhood adversities in patients with fibromyalgia: Are they related to comorbid lifetime major depression? *Clinical and Experimental Rheumatology, 35*, 112-118. Retrieved from https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85026398704&partnerID=40&md5=e9a5fa1375012e4a655f1f873985d795
- Alciati, A., Cirillo, M., Masala, I. F., Sarzi-Puttini, P., & Atzeni, F. (2021). Differences in depression, anxiety and stress disorders between fibromyalgia associated with rheumatoid arthritis and primary fibromyalgia. *Stress & Health: Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress, 37*(2), 255-262. https://doi.org/10.1002/smi.2992
- Alsubaie, M. A., Alkhalifah, H. A., Ali, A. H., Bahabri, M. A., Alharbi, B. A., & Alfakeh, S. A. (2022). Adverse Childhood Experiences and Their Effect on Irritable Bowel Syndrome Among Saudi Arabian Adults. *Cureus*, 14(6), e25791. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.25791
- Amone-P'olak, K., & Letswai, N. K. (2020). The relationship between adverse childhood experiences and depression: A crosssectional survey with university students in Botswana. *South African Journal of Psychiatry*, 26, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajpsychiatry.v26i0.1444
- Apkarian, A. V. (2019). Definitions of nociception, pain, and chronic pain with implications regarding science and society. *Neuroscience Letters 702*, 1-2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2018.11.039</u>
- Arksey, H., & O'Malley, L., (2005). Scoping studies; towards a methodological framework. International Journal of Social Research Methodology 8(1), 19-32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1364557032000119616</u>

Arnett, J. J., Maynard, A., Brownlow, C., Chapin, L. & Machin, T., (2020) Child Development: A Cultural Approach. Pearson

Aromataris, E., & Munn, Z. (2017). JBI systematic reviews. Joanna Briggs Institute reviewer's manual. https://doi.org/10.46658/JBIMES-20-02

- Bannigan, K., & Watson, R. (2009). Reliability and validity in a nutshell. Journal of Clinical Nursing, 18(23), 3237-3243. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2702.2009.0939.x
- Barden, R., Kinscherff, R., George, W., & Flyer, R. (1993). Emergency medical care and injury/illness prevention systems for children. *Harvard Journal on Legislation*, 30(2), 461-498.
- Barlow, D. H., Durand, V. M., & Hofmann, S. G., (2020). Abnormal Psychology: An integral approach (Eighth edition). Cengage Learning Inc.
- Bayram, K., & Erol, A. (2014). Childhood Traumatic Experiences, Anxiety, and Depression Levels in Fibromyalgia and Rheumatoid Arthritis. Noro psikiyatri arsivi, 51(4), 344-349. https://doi.org/10.5152/npa.2014.6958
- Bellis, M. A., Hughes, K., Ford, K., Rodriguez, G. R., Sethi, D., & Passmore, J. (2019). Life course health consequences and associated annual costs of adverse childhood experiences across Europe and North America: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Public Health*, 4(10), 517-528. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(19)30145-8</u>
- Berens, S., Banzhaf, P., Baumeister, D., Gauss, A., Eich, W., Schaefert, R., & Tesarz, J. (2020). Relationship between adverse childhood experiences and illness anxiety in irritable bowel syndrome - The impact of gender. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 128, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2019.109846</u>
- Bernstein, D. P., Fink, L., Handelsman, L., & Foote, J. (1998). Childhood trauma questionnaire. Assessment of family violence: A handbook for researchers and practitioners. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/t02080-000

- Borini, C. H., Carlos, D. M., Ávila, L. A., Saltareli, S., & Hortense, P. (2021). Suffered life, hard life: adverse experiences in childhood of people with chronic musculoskeletal pain. *Revista gaucha de enfermagem, 42*, https://doi.org/10.1590/1983-1447.2021.20200385
- Borsini, A., Hepgul, N., Mondelli, V., Chalder, T., & Pariante, C. M. (2014). Childhood stressors in the development of fatigue syndromes: a review of the past 20 years of research. *Psychological medicine*, *44*(9), 1809-1823. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291713002468
- Boullier, M., & Blair, M., (2018). Adverse Childhood Experiences. *Paediatrics and Child Health* 28(3), 132-137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paed.2017.12.008
- Bradford, K., Shih, W., Videlock, E. J., Presson, A. P., Naliboff, B. D., Mayer, E. A., & Chang, L. (2012). Association between early adverse life events and irritable bowel syndrome. *Clinical gastroenterology and hepatology : the official clinical practice journal of the American Gastroenterological Association, 10*(4), 385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2011.12.018
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2012). Thematic analysis. In H. Cooper, P. M. Camic, D. L. Long, A. T. Panter, D. Rindskopf, & K. J. Sher (Eds.), APA handbook of research methods in psychology, Research designs: Quantitative, qualitative, neuropsychological, and biological, 2, 57–71. American Psychological Association. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/13620-004</u>

Burton, L. J., Goodwin, C. J., Goodwin, K. A., & Jose, P. E., (2017). Psychology Research Methods. Wiley.

- Chetwynd E. (2022). Critical Analysis of Reliability and Validity in Literature Reviews. *Journal of Human Lactation*. 38(3), 392-396. https://doi.org/<u>10.1177/08903344221100201</u>
- Coffelt, T. A., Bauer, B. D. & Carroll, A. E., (2013) Inpatient characteristics of the child admitted with chronic pain. *Pediatrics* 132, e422-e429. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2012-1739
- Cohen, S. P., Vase, L., & Hooten, W. M. (2021). Chronic pain: an update on burden, best practices, and new advances. *The Lancet, 397*(10289), 2082-2097. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(21)00393-7</u>
- Coppens, E., van Wambeke, P., Morlion, B., Weltens, N., Giao Ly, H., Tack, J., Luyten, P., & van Oudenhove, L. (2017).
 Prevalence and impact of childhood adversities and post-traumatic stress disorder in women with fibromyalgia and chronic widespread pain. *European Journal of Pain (United Kingdom), 21*(9), 1582-1590. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.1059
- Craig, S. L., Austin, A., Levenson, J., Leung, V. W., Eaton, A. D., & D'Souza, S. A. (2020). Frequencies and patterns of adverse childhood events in LGBTQ+ youth. Child Abuse & Neglect, 107, 104623. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104623</u>
- Craner, J. R., & Lake, E. S. (2021). Adverse Childhood Experiences and Chronic Pain Rehabilitation Treatment Outcomes in Adults. *Clinical Journal of Pain*, *37*(5), 321-329. https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.00000000000924
- Craner, J. R., Lake, E. S., Barr, A. C., Kirby, K. E., & O'Neill, M. (2022). Childhood Adversity among Adults with Chronic Pain: Prevalence and Association with Pain-Related Outcomes. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*. https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.00000000001054
- Cronholm, P. F., Forke, C. M., Wade, R., Bair-Merritt, M. H., Davis, M., Harkins-Schwarz, M., Pachter, L. M., & Fein, J. A., (2015)
 Adverse Childhood Experiences: Expanding the Concept of Adversity. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 49(3), 354-361. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2015.02.001
- Cryan, J. F., O'Riordan, K. J., Cowan, C. S., Sandhu, K. V., Bastiaanssen, T. F., Boehme, M., Codagnone, M. G., Cussotto, S.,
 Fulling, C., Golubeva, A. V., Guzzetta, K. E., Jaggar, M., Long-Smith, C. M., Lyte, J. M., Martin, J. A., Molinero-Perez, A.,
 Moloney, G., Morelli, E., Morillas, E., ... & Dinan, T. G. (2019). The microbiota-gut-brain axis. *Physiological reviews*.
 https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00018.2018
- Dahlhamer J., Lucas J., Zelaya C., Nahin R., Mackey S., DeBar L., Kerns R., Von Korff M., Porter L., & Helmick C., (2016). Prevalence of Chronic Pain and High-Impact Chronic Pain Among Adults - United States. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 67*(36), 1001-1006. <u>https://doi.org/10.15585%2Fmmwr.mm6736a2</u>

- Daily, S. M., Dyer, A. M., Lilly, C. L., Sarkees, E. A., & Bias, T. K. (2022). Using adverse childhood experiences to explore the usefulness of community health needs assessments to monitor complex determinants of health at the local level. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2021.102044
- Danese, A., Moffitt, T. E., Harrington, H., Milne, B. J., Polanczyk, G., Pariante, C. M., Poulton, R., & Caspi, A. (2009). Adverse childhood experiences and adult risk factors for age-related disease: depression, inflammation, and clustering of metabolic risk markers. Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine, 163(12), 1135-1143. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpediatrics.2009.214
- Danese, A., & McEwen, B.S., (2012). Adverse childhood experiences, allostasis, allostatic load, and age-related disease. Physiology & Behavior 106, 29-39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.08.019</u>
- De Roa, P., Paris, P., Poindessous, J. L., Maillet, O., & Héron, A. (2018). Subjective experiences and sensitivities in women with fibromyalgia: A quantitative and comparative study. *Pain Research and Management, 2018*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/8269564
- Dueñas, M., Ojeda, B., Salazar, A., Mico, J. A., & Failde, I., (2016). A review of chronic pain impact on patients, their social environment and the health care system. *Journal of Pain Research 9*, 457-67. https://doi.org/10.2147%2FJPR.S105892
- Ellsberg, M., Jansen, H., Heise, L., Watts, C. H., & Garcia-Moreno, C., (2008). Intimate partner violence and women's physical and mental health in the WHO multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence: an observational study. *The Lancet 371*(9619), 1165-1172. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60522-X
- Felitti VJ, Anda RF, Nordenberg D, Williamson DF, Spitz AM, Edwards V, Koss MP, Marks JS. (1998) Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) study. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 14, 245-258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-3797(98)00017-8</u>
- Filippon, A. P. M., Bassani, D. G., de Aguiar, R. W., & Ceitlin, L. H. F. (2013). Association between childhood trauma and loss of functionality in adult women with fibromyalgia. *Trends in Psychiatry and Psychotherapy*, 35(1), 46-54. https://doi.org/10.1590/S2237-60892013000100006
- Finkelhor, D., Shattuck, A., Turner, H., & Hamby, S. (2013). Improving the adverse childhood experiences study scale. JAMA pediatrics, 167(1), 70-75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2013.420</u>
- Finkelhor, D., Shattuck, A., Turner, H., & Hamby, S. (2015). A revised inventory of adverse childhood experiences. Child abuse & neglect, 48, 13-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2015.07.011</u>
- Finlay, L. (1998). Reflexivity: An Essential Component for All Research? British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 61(10), 453-456. https://doi.org/10.1177/030802269806101005
- Fishbain, D. A., Bruns, D., Meyer, L. J., Lewis, J. E., Gao, J., & Disorbio, J. M. (2014). Exploration of Affirmation of Childhood Molestation (Sexual Abuse) in Chronic Pain Patients, Acute Pain Patients, Community Patients With Pain and Community Nonpatients Without Pain. *Pain Practice*, 14(6), 515-525. https://doi.org/10.1111/papr.12090

Fitzner, K. (2007). Reliability and Validity A Quick Review. *The Diabetes Educator, 33*(5), 775-780. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145721707308172

Fowler, C., Homandberg, L., Steele, C., Bolt, M. A., Tintle, N., Van De Griend, K., .Ulrich, R., & Christians, M. (2020). Adult correlates of adverse childhood experiences in Ukraine. *Child Abuse and Neglect*, *107*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104617

Fuller-Thomson, E., Lacombe-Duncan, A., Goodman, D., Fallon, B., & Brennenstuhl, S. (2020). From surviving to thriving: factors associated with complete mental health among childhood sexual abuse survivors. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 55(6), 735-744. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-019-01767-x

- Generaal, E., Milaneschi, Y., Jansen, R., Elzinga, B. M., Dekker, J., & Penninx, B. W. J. H. (2016). The brain-derived neurotrophic factor pathway, life stress, and chronic multi-site musculoskeletal pain. *Molecular Pain*, 12. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744806916646783
- Giano, Z., Wheeler, D. L., & Hubach, R. D. (2020). The frequencies and disparities of adverse childhood experiences in the US. BMC Public Health, 20(1), 1-12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09411-z</u>
- Goldenson, J., Kitollari, I., & Lehman, F. (2021). The Relationship Between ACEs, Trauma-Related Psychopathology and Resilience in Vulnerable Youth: Implications for Screening and Treatment. *Journal of Child & Adolescent Trauma*, 14(1), 151-160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40653-020-00308-y
- Gonzalez, A., Boyle, M. H., Kyu, H. H., Georgiades, K., Duncan, L., & MacMillan, H. L. (2012). Childhood and family influences on depression, chronic physical conditions, and their comorbidity: findings from the Ontario Child Health Study. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 46(11), 1475-1482. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.08.004
- Gnanamanickama, E. S., Nguyen, H., Armfield, J. M., Doidge, J. C., Brown, D. S., Preen, D. B., & Segal, L., (2020). Hospitalisations among children involved in the child protection system: A long-term birth cohort study from infancy to adulthood using administrative data. *Child Abuse and Neglect 107*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104518
- Greenfield, E. A., & Marks, N. F. (2009). Profiles of physical and psychological violence in childhood as a risk factor for poorer adult health: evidence from the 1995-2005 National Survey of Midlife in the United States. Journal of aging and health, 21(7), 943-966. https://doi.org/10.1177/0898264309343905
- Groenewald, C. B., Murray, C. B. & Palermo, T. M., (2020). Adverse childhood experiences and chronic pain among children and adolescents in the United States. *Pain* 5(5), e839. <u>http://doi.org/10.1097/PR9.00000000000839</u>
- Gündüz, N., Polat, A., Erzincan, E., Turan, H., Sade, I., & Tural, Ü. (2018). Psychiatric comorbidity and childhood trauma in fibromyalgia syndrome. *Turkiye Fiziksel Tip ve Rehabilitasyon Dergisi, 64*(2), 91-99. https://doi.org/10.5606/tftrd.2018.1470
- Hadley, G., & Novitch, M. B. (2021). CBT and CFT for Chronic Pain. *Current Pain and Headache Reports, 25*(5), 1-4. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11916-021-00948-1
- Halland, M., Almazar, A., Lee, R., Atkinson, E., Larson, J., Talley, N. J., & Saito, Y. A. (2014). A case-control study of childhood trauma in the development of irritable bowel syndrome. *Neurogastroenterology and Motility, 26*(7), 990-998. https://doi.org/10.1111/nmo.12353
- Häuser, W., Brähler, E., Schmutzer, G., & Glaesmer, H. (2019). The association of adverse childhood experiences and of resilience with chronic noncancer pain in the German adult population – A cross-sectional survey. *European Journal of Pain* (*United Kingdom*), 23(3), 555-564. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.1329
- Hellou, R., Häuser, W., Brenner, I., Buskila, D., Jacob, G., Elkayam, O., Aloush, V., & Ablin, J. N. (2017). Self-reported childhood maltreatment and traumatic events among Israeli patients suffering from fibromyalgia and rheumatoid arthritis. *Pain Research and Management, 2017.* <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/3865249</u>
- Hudson, M. L., & Russell, K. (2009). The Treaty of Waitangi and research ethics in Aotearoa. *Journal of Bioethical Inquiry*, 6(1), 61-68. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11673-008-9127-0
- Johnson, B. N., Lumley, M. A., Cheavens, J. S., & McKernan, L. C. (2020). Exploring the links among borderline personality disorder symptoms, trauma, and pain in patients with chronic pain disorders. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *135*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2020.110164
- Jones, G. T., Power, C., & Macfarlane, G. J. (2009). Adverse events in childhood and chronic widespread pain in adult life: Results from the 1958 British Birth Cohort Study. *Pain, 143*(1-2), 92-96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2009.02.003</u>
- Ju, T., Naliboff, B. D., Shih, W., Presson, A. P., Liu, C., Gupta, A., Mayer, E. A., & Chang, L. (2020). Risk and Protective Factors Related to Early Adverse Life Events in Irritable Bowel Syndrome. *Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology*, 54(1), 63-69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/MCG.00000000001153</u>

- Kalmakis, K. A., & Chandler, G. E. (2014). Adverse childhood experiences: towards a clear conceptual meaning. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70(7), 1489-1501. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12329
- Kalmakis, K. A., & Chandler, G. E., (2015) Health consequences of adverse childhood experiences: A systematic review. *Journal* of the American Association of Nurse Practitioners 27(8), 457-465. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2327-6924.12215</u>
- Kamiya, Y., Timonen, V., & Kenny, R. A. (2016). The impact of childhood sexual abuse on the mental and physical health, and healthcare utilization of older adults. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 28(3), 415-422. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610215001672
- Kascakova, N., Furstova, J., Hasto, J., Geckova, A. M., & Tavel, P. (2020). The unholy trinity: Childhood trauma, adulthood anxiety, and long-term pain. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *17*(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17020414
- Kascakova, N., Furstova, J., Hasto, J., Madarasova-Geckova, A., & Tavel, P. (2020). When a head is about to burst: Attachment mediates the relationship between childhood trauma and migraine. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 17(12), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17124579
- Kendall-Tackett, K., Marshall, R., & Ness, K. (2003). Chronic pain syndromes and violence against women. Women & therapy, 26(1-2), 45-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1300/J015v26n01_03</u>
- Kizilkurt, Ö. K., Demirkan, A. K., Gıynaş, F. E., & Güleç, H. (2021). Effect of childhood trauma on disease severity in patients with fibromyalgia: The mediating role of psychological resilience. *Archives of Rheumatology*, *36*(4), 538-547. https://doi.org/10.46497/ARCHRHEUMATOL.2021.8477
- Krantz, T. E., Andrews, N., Petersen, T. R., Dunivan, G. C., Montoya, M., Swanson, N., Wenzl, C. K., Zambrano, J. R., & Komesu,
 Y. M. (2019). Adverse Childhood Experiences among Gynecology Patients with Chronic Pelvic Pain. *Obstetrics and gynecology*, 134(5), 1087-1095. https://doi.org/10.1097/AOG.000000000003533
- LeMasters, K., Bates, L. M., Chung, E. O., Gallis, J. A., Hagaman, A., Scherer, E., Sikander, S., Staley, B. S., Zalla, L. C., Zivich, P. N., & Maselko, J. (2021). Adverse childhood experiences and depression among women in rural Pakistan. *BMC Public Health*, 21(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-10409-4</u>
- Liu, Y., Liu, L., Yang, Y., He, Y., Zhang, Y., Wang, M., Chen, S., & Yao, S. (2014). A school-based study of irritable bowel syndrome in medical students in Beijing, China: Prevalence and some related factors. *Gastroenterology Research and Practice, 2014*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/124261
- Lobo, J. J., Ayoub, L. J., Moayedi, M., & Linnstaedt, S. D. (2022). Hippocampal volume, FKBP5 genetic risk alleles, and childhood trauma interact to increase vulnerability to chronic multisite musculoskeletal pain. *Scientific Reports, 12*(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-10411-9
- Loevinger, B. L., Shirtcliff, E. A., Muller, D., Alonso, C., & Coe, C. L. (2012). Delineating psychological and biomedical profiles in a heterogeneous fibromyalgia population using cluster analysis. *Clinical Rheumatology*, 31(4), 677-685. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10067-011-1912-1</u>

Lovering, S. (2006). Cultural attitudes and beliefs about pain. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 17(4), 389-395. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659606291546

- MacDermid, J. C., Walton, D. M., & Law, M. (2009). Critical appraisal of research evidence for its validity and usefulness. *Hand clinics*, *25*(1), 29-42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hcl.2008.11.003</u>
- Macedo, B. B. D., Von Werne Baes, C., Menezes, I. C., & Juruena, M. F. (2019). Child Abuse and Neglect as Risk Factors for Comorbidity Between Depression and Chronic Pain in Adulthood. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 207*(7), 538-545. https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.000000000001031

Macfarlane, G. J. (2016). The epidemiology of pain. *Pain* 157(10), 2158-2159. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.00000000000676

- Munn, Z., Peters, M. D., Stern, C., Tufanaru, C., McArthur, A., & Aromataris, E. (2018). Systematic review or scoping review?
 Guidance for authors when choosing between a systematic or scoping review approach. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18(1), 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0611-x
- Marin, T. J., Lewinson, R. E., Hayden, J. A., Mahood, Q., Rossi, M. A., Rosenbloom, B., & Katz, J. (2021). A systematic review of the prospective relationship between child maltreatment and chronic pain. *Children*, 8(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/CHILDREN8090806
- McCall-Hosenfeld, J. S., Winter, M., Heeren, T., & Liebschutz, J. M. (2014). The association of interpersonal trauma with somatic symptom severity in a primary care population with chronic pain: Exploring the role of gender and the mental health sequelae of trauma. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 77(3), 196-204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2014.07.011
- McKernan, L. C., Johnson, B. N., Reynolds, W. S., Williams, D. A., Cheavens, J. S., Dmochowski, R. R., & Crofford, L. J. (2019). Posttraumatic stress disorder in interstitial cystitis/bladder pain syndrome: Relationship to patient phenotype and clinical practice implications. *Neurourology and Urodynamics*, 38(1), 353-362. https://doi.org/10.1002/nau.23861
- Mehta, S., Rice, D., Chan, A., Shapiro, A. P., Sequeira, K., & Teasell, R. W. (2017). Impact of abuse on adjustment and chronic pain disability: A structural equation model. *The Clinical Journal of Pain.33*(8), 2017, pp. 687-693. https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.000000000000469
- Mikahere-Hall, A. (2017). Constructing research from an indigenous Kaupapa Māori perspective: An example of decolonising research. *Psychotherapy and Politics International*, *15*(3), e1428. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ppi.1428</u>
- Mills, S. E., Nicolson, K. P., & Smith, B. H. (2019). Chronic pain: a review of its epidemiology and associated factors in population-based studies. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, *123*(2), e273-e283. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bja.2019.03.023
- Ministry of Health. (2021). Annual Data Explorer 2020/21: New Zealand Health Survey [Data File]. URL: https://minhealthnz.shinyapps.io/nz-health-survey-2020-21-annual-data-explorer/
- Morton, S. M. B., Atatoa Carr, P. E., Grant, C. C., Robinson, E. M., Bandara, D. K., Bird, A., Ivory, V. C., Kingi, TK. R., Liang, R., Marks, E. J., Perese, L. M., Peterson, E. R., Pryor, J. E., Reese, E., Schmidt, J. M., Waldie, K. E., & Wall, C. (2012). Cohort Profile: Growing Up in New Zealand. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *42*(1), 65-75. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyr206
- Munce, S. E. P., Weller, I., Robertson Blackmore, E. K., Heinmaa, M., Katz, J., & Stewart, D. E. (2006). The role of work stress as a moderating variable in the chronic pain and depression association. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *61*(5), 653-660. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2006.03.048
- Nacak, Y., Morawa, E., Tuffner, D., & Erim, Y. (2017). Insecure attachment style and cumulative traumatic life events in patients with somatoform pain disorder: A cross-sectional study. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 103, 77-82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2017.10.003
- National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Division of Violence Prevention, (2021). About the CDC-Kaiser ACE Study. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/aces/about.html</u>
- Negriff, S. (2020). ACEs are not equal: Examining the relative impact of household dysfunction versus childhood maltreatment on mental health in adolescence. *Social Science & Medicine, 245*, 112696. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112696
- Nelson, S. M., Cunningham, N. R. & Kahsikar-Zuck, S., (2017). A Conceptual Framework for Understanding the Role of Adverse Childhood Experiences in Paediatric Chronic Pain. *The Clinical Journal of Pain 33*(3), 264-270. https://doi.org/10.1097/ajp.00000000000397

- Nelson, S., Simons, L. E. & Logan, D., (2018). The Incidence of Adverse Childhood Experience (ACEs) and Their Association with Pain-related and Psychosocial Impairment in Youth with Chronic Pain. *The Clinical Journal of Pain 34*(5), 402-408. <u>http://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.000000000000549</u>
- Nelson, S., Smith, K., Sethna, N. & Logan, D., (2019). Youth With Chronic Pain and a history of Adverse Childhood Experiences in the Context of Multidisciplinary Pain Rehabilitation. *The Clinical Journal of Pain 35*(5), 420-427. <u>http://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.000000000000686</u>
- Olivieri, P., Solitar, B., & Dubois, M. (2012). Childhood risk factors for developing fibromyalgia. *Open Access Rheumatology: Research and Reviews, 4*, 109-114. https://doi.org/10.2147/OARRR.S36086
- Oshima, T., Fukui, H., Watari, J., & Miwa, H. (2015). Childhood abuse history is associated with the development of dyspepsia: a population-based survey in Japan. *Journal of Gastroenterology*, *50*(7), 744-750. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00535-014-1014-3
- Park, S. H., Videlock, E. J., Shih, W., Presson, A. P., Mayer, E. A., & Chang, L. (2016). Adverse childhood experiences are associated with irritable bowel syndrome and gastrointestinal symptom severity. *Neurogastroenterology and Motility*, 28(8), 1252-1260. https://doi.org/10.1111/nmo.12826
- Penninx, B. W. J. H., Milaneschi, Y., Lamers, F., & Vogelzangs, N. (2013). Understanding the somatic consequences of depression: biological mechanisms and the role of depression symptom profile. *BMC Medicine*, 11(1), 129. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7015-11-129
- Pham, M. T., Rajić, A., Greig, J. D., Sargean, T. J. M., Papadopoulos, A., McEwen, S. A., (2014). A scoping review of scoping reviews: advancing the approach and enhancing the consistency. *Research Synthesis Methods* 5(4), 371-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002%2Fjrsm.1123</u>
- Piontek, K., Apfelbacher, C., Ketels, G., Brünahl, C., & Löwe, B. (2021). Depression Partially Mediates the Association of Adverse Childhood Experiences with Pain Intensity in Patients with Chronic Pelvic Pain Syndrome: Results from a Cross-Sectional Patient Survey. *Pain Medicine*, 22(5), 1174-1184. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pnaa325
- Poli-Neto, O. B., Tawasha, K. A. S., Romão, A. P. M. S., Hisano, M. K., Moriyama, A., Candido-dos-Reis, F. J., Rosa-e-Silva, J. C., & Nogueira, A. A. (2018). History of childhood maltreatment and symptoms of anxiety and depression in women with chronic pelvic pain. *Journal of Psychosomatic Obstetrics and Gynecology*, *39*(2), 83-89. https://doi.org/10.1080/0167482X.2017.1306515
- Pollock, D., Tricco, A. C., Peters, M. D. J., McInerney, P. A., Khalil, H., Godfrey, C. M., Alexander, L. A., & Munn, Z. (2022). Methodological quality, guidance, and tools in scoping reviews: a scoping review protocol. *JBI Evidence Synthesis, 20*(4), 1098-1105. https://doi.org/10.11124/jbies-20-00570
- Prangnell, A., Voon, P., Shulha, H., Nosova, E., Shoveller, J., Milloy, M. J., . . . Hayashi, K. (2019). The relationship between childhood emotional abuse and chronic pain among people who inject drugs in Vancouver, Canada. *Child Abuse and Neglect, 93*, 119-127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.05.006
- Raphael, K. G., Widom, C. S., & Lange, G. (2001). Childhood victimization and pain in adulthood: a prospective investigation. Pain, 92(1-2), 283-293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959(01)00270-6</u>
- Reid, P., & Robson, B. (2007). Understanding health inequities. In: *Hauora: Māori standards of health IV. A study of the years* 2001-2005, 3-10. Wellington: Te Ropu Rangahau Hauora a Eru Pomare.
- Roberts, P., & Priest, H. (2006). Reliability and validity in research. *Nursing Standard, 20*, 41+. Retrieved from https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A149022548/HRCA?u=anon~faea4fbd&sid=googleScholar&xid=db8a689f
- Rosenblat, J. D., Mansur, R. B., Brietzke, E., Kennedy, S. H., Carvalho, A. F., Lee, Y., Subramaniapillai, M., Muzina, D. J., Dale, R., Tamura, J. K., Lui, L. M. W., Park, C., Phan, L., Tuineag, R. M., & McIntyre, R. S. (2020). Association of history of adverse

childhood experiences with irritable bowel syndrome (IBS) in individuals with mood disorders. *Psychiatry Research, 288*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112967

- Sachs-Ericsson, N., Kendall-Tackett, K., & Hernandez, A., (2007). Childhood abuse, chronic pain, and depression in the National Comorbidity Survey. *Child Abuse & Neglect* 31(5), 531-547. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2006.12.007</u>
- Sachs-Ericsson, N. J., Sheffler, J. L., Stanley, I. H., Piazza, J. R., & Preacher, K. J. (2017). When Emotional Pain Becomes Physical: Adverse Childhood Experiences, Pain, and the Role of Mood and Anxiety Disorders. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 73(10), 1403-1428. https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.22444
- Salonsalmi, A., Pietiläinen, O., Lahelma, E., Rahkonen, O., & Lallukka, T. (2022). Contributions of childhood adversities to chronic pain among mid-life employees. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, *50*(3), 333-339. https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494820981509
- Sansone, R. A., & Sansone, L. A. (2015). IRRITABLE BOWEL SYNDROME: Relationships with Abuse in Childhood. *Innovations in Clinical Neuroscience*, 12(5/6), 34-37. Retrieved from

https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ccm&AN=109807720&site=ehost-live&scope=site

- Satinsky, E. N., Kakuhikire, B., Baguma, C., Rasmussen, J. D., Ashaba, S., Cooper-Vince, C. E., Perkins, J. M., Kicinco, A., Namara,
 E. B., Bangsberg, D. R., & Tsai, A. C. (2021). Adverse childhood experiences, adult depression, and suicidal ideation in rural
 Uganda: A cross-sectional, population-based study. *PLoS Medicine*, *18*(5). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003642
- Schoenborn, C. A. (1991). *Exposure to Alcoholism in the Family: United States, 1988 (No. 205)*. US Department of the Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Centers for Disease Control, National Center for Health Statistics.
- Schofferman, J., Anderson, D., Hines, R., Smith, G., & White, A. (1992). Childhood psychological trauma correlates with unsuccessful lumbar spine surgery. *Spine*, *17*(6), 138-144. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007632-199206001-00013
- Schrepf, A., Naliboff, B., Williams, D. A., Stephens-Shields, A. J., Landis, J. R., Gupta, A., Mayer, E., Rodriguez, L. Z., Lai, H., Luo,
 Y., Bradley, C., Kreder, K., & Lutgendorf, S. K., (2018). Adverse Childhood Experiences and Symptoms of Urologic Chronic
 Pelvic Pain Syndrome: A Multidisciplinary Approach to the Study of Chronic Pelvic Pain Research Network Study. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *52*(10), 865-877. https://doi.org/10.1093/abm/kax060
- SemiZ, M., Kavakci, Ö., PekŞEn, H., TunÇAy, M. S., ÖZer, Z., SemiZ, E. A., & KaptanoĞLu, E. (2014). Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder, Alexithymia and Somatoform Dissociation in Patients with Fibromyalgia. *Turkish Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation / Turkiye Fiziksel Tip ve Rehabilitasyon Dergisi, 60*(3), 245-251. https://doi.org/10.5152/tftrd.2014.48254
- Shamseddeen, W., Asarnow, J. R., Clarke, G., Vitiello, B., Wagner, K. D., Birmaher, B., Keller, M. B., Emslie, G., Iyengar, S., Ryan, N. D., McCracken, J. T., Porta, G., Mayes, T., & Brent, D. A. (2011). Impact of Physical and Sexual Abuse on Treatment Response in the Treatment of Resistant Depression in Adolescent Study (TORDIA). *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, *50*(3), 293-301.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2010.11.019</u>
- Sigurdardottir, S., & Halldorsdottir, S. (2013). Repressed and silent suffering: Consequences of childhood sexual abuse for women's health and well-being. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences, 27*(2), 422-432. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-6712.2012.01049.x
- Sigurdardottir, S., & Halldorsdottir, S. (2018). Screaming body and silent healthcare providers: A case study with a childhood sexual abuse survivor. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *15*(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15010094
- Sippel, L. M., Pietrzak, R. H., Charney, D. S., Mayes, L. C., & Southwick, S. M. (2015). How does social support enhance resilience in the trauma-exposed individual? *Ecology and Society, 20*(4). Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/26270277
- Smith, B. W., Dalen, J., Wiggins, K., Tooley, E., Christopher, P., & Bernard, J. (2008). The brief resilience scale: assessing the ability to bounce back. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 15(3), 194-200. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705500802222972

- Spiegel, D. R., Chatterjee, A., McCroskey, A. L., Ahmadi, T., Simmelink, D., Oldfield, E. C., Pryor, C. R., Faschan, M., & Raulli, O. (2015). A Review of Select Centralized Pain Syndromes: Relationship With Childhood Sexual Abuse, Opiate Prescribing, and Treatment Implications for the Primary Care Physician. *Health Services Research and Managerial Epidemiology, 2*. https://doi.org/10.1177/233392814567920
- Sprang, G., Bush, H. M., Coker, A. L., & Brancato, C. J. (2020). Types of Trauma and Self-Reported Pain That Limits Functioning in Different-Aged Cohorts. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 35(23-24), 5953-5975. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260517723144
- Stickley, A., Koyanagi, A., & Kawakami, N. (2015). Childhood adversities and adult-onset chronic pain: Results from the World Mental Health Survey, Japan. *European Journal of Pain (United Kingdom), 19*(10), 1418-1427. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.672
- Straus, M. A., Gelles, R. J., & Asplund, L. M. (1990). *Physical violence in American families: Risk factors and adaptations to violence in 8,145 families*. Transaction Publishers.
- Sweeney, S., Air, T., Zannettino, L., & Galletly, C. (2015). Gender differences in the physical and psychological manifestation of childhood trauma and/or adversity in people with psychosis. *Frontiers in psychology*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01768
- Taghian, N. R., McHugh, R. K., Griffin, M. L., Chase, A. R., Greenfield, S. F., & Weiss, R. D. (2021). Associations between Childhood Abuse and Chronic Pain in Adults with Substance Use Disorders. *Substance Use and Misuse*, 56(1), 87-92. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2020.1840590
- Tauri, J., Walters, R., & Bradley, T. (2005). Indigenous perspectives and experience: Māori and the criminal justice system. Introduction to Criminological Thought. New Zealand: Pearson, 129-145.
- Tesarz, J., Eich, W., Treede, R. D., & Gerhardt, A. (2016). Altered pressure pain thresholds and increased wind-up in adult patients with chronic back pain with a history of childhood maltreatment: A quantitative sensory testing study. *PAIN*, *157*(8), 1799-1809. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000000586
- Tidmarsh, L. V., Harrison, R., Ravindran, D., Matthews, S. L., & Finlay, K. A. (2022). The Influence of Adverse Childhood Experiences in Pain Management: Mechanisms, Processes, and Trauma-Informed Care. *Frontiers in Pain Research*, 3, https://doi.org/10.3389/fpain.2022.923866
- Tricco, A. C., Lillie, E., Zarin, W., O'Brien, K. K., Colquhoun, H., Levac, D., Moher, D., Peters, M. D. J., Horsley, T., Weeks, L., Hempel, S., Akl, E. A., Chang, C., McGowan, J., Stewart, L., Hartling, L., Aldcroft, A., Wilson, M. G., Garritty, C., ... Straus, S. E., (2018). PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR): Checklist and Explanation. *Annals of Internal Medicine 169*(7), 467-473. https://doi.org/10.7326/m18-0850
- Treede, R. D., Rief, W., Barke, A., Aziz, Q., Bennett, M. I., Benoliel, R., Cohen M, Evers S, Finnerup NB, First MB, Giamberardino MA, Kaasa S, Kosek E, Lavand'homme P, Nicholas M, Perrot S, Scholz J, Schug S, ... & Wang, S. J. (2015). A classification of chronic pain for ICD-11. *Pain*, 156(6), 1003-1007. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097%2Fj.pain.000000000000160</u>
- van der Kolk, B., (2014). The Body Keeps the Score. Penguin Books.
- van Tilburg, M. A., Runyan, D. K., Zolotor, A. J., Graham, J. C., Dubowitz, H., Litrownik, A. J., Flaherty, E., Chitkara, D. K., & Whitehead, W. E. (2010). Unexplained gastrointestinal symptoms after abuse in a prospective study of children at risk for abuse and neglect. *The Annals of Family Medicine*, 8(2), 134-140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1053</u>
- van Hecke, O., Hocking, L. J., Torrance, N., Campbell, A., Padmanabhan, S., Porteous, D. J., McIntosh, A. M., Burri, A. V., Tanaka, H, Williams, F. M. K., & Smith, B. H. (2017). Chronic pain, depression and cardiovascular disease linked through a shared genetic predisposition: Analysis of a family-based cohort and twin study. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0170653

- Varinen, A., Kosunen, E., Mattila, K., Koskela, T., & Sumanen, M. (2017). The relationship between childhood adversities and fibromyalgia in the general population. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 99, 137-142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2017.06.011
- Vera Cruz, G., Bucourt, E., Réveillère, C., Martaillé, V., Joncker-Vannier, I., Goupille, P., Mullerman, D., Courtois, R. (2022). Machine learning reveals the most important psychological and social variables predicting the differential diagnosis of rheumatic and musculoskeletal diseases. *Rheumatology international, 42*(6), 1053-1062. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00296-021-04916-1
- Waller, E., Scheidt, C. E., Endorf, K., Hartmann, A., & Zimmermann, P. (2016). Unresolved trauma in fibromyalgia: A crosssectional study. *Journal of Health Psychology, 21*(11), 2457-2465. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105315580460
- Walsh MC, Joyce, S., Maloney T., Vaithianathan R., (2019). Adverse childhood experiences and school readiness outcomes: results from the growing up in New Zealand study. *New Zealand Medical Journal 132*, 15-24.

Weber, R. P. (1990). Basic content analysis (Vol. 49). Sage.

Wilson, M. G., Lavis, J. N., & Ellen, M. E. (2015). Supporting chronic pain management across provincial and territorial health systems in Canada: findings from two stakeholder dialogues. *Pain Research and Management*, 20(5), 269-279. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/918976

Wurtman, R. J. (2005). Genes, stress, and depression. *Metabolism, 54*(5), 16-19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2005.01.007

- Wyatt, G. E. (1985). The sexual abuse of Afro-American and White-American women in childhood. *Child Abuse & Neglect, 9*(4), 507-519. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0145-2134(85)90060-2</u>
- Yeung, E. W., Davis, M. C., & Ciaramitaro, M. C. (2016). Cortisol Profile Mediates the Relation Between Childhood Neglect and Pain and Emotional Symptoms among Patients with Fibromyalgia. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 50(1), 87-97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-015-9734-z
- You, D. S., Albu, S., Lisenbardt, H., & Meagher, M. W. (2019). Cumulative childhood adversity as a risk factor for common chronic pain conditions in young adults. *Pain Medicine (United States), 20*(3), 486-494. https://doi.org/10.1093/pm/pny106